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Key Figures

Revenue *

IFRS

Belgian GAAP

2008

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

€ million

€ million

€ million

€ million

€ million

€ million

2,280

2,405

2,116

1,969

1,775**

1,702**

303

376

345

304

267

247

13.3%

15.6%

16.3%

15.4%

15.0%

14.5%

226

298

273

230

199

179

9.9%

12.4%

12.9%

11.7%

11.2%

10.5%

188

292

271

208

199

179

8.2%

12.2%

12.8%

10.6%

11.2%

10.5%

Net Profit (Group Share) *

124

180

165

122

61

43

Capital Expenditure (incl leasing) *

118

102

84

73

74

58

% of depreciation and amortisation

155%

136%

121%

103%

109%

85%

% of current EBITDA

39%

27%

24%

24%

28%

23%

1,042

1,013

858

754

576***

555***

487

473

472

574

659

720

Return on Capital Employed *

11.4%

19.1%

19.3%

15.2%

14.9%

12.8%

Return on Equity (Group Share) *

12.2%

19.4%

20.8%

18.7%

11.0%

8.1%

Average Number of Employees

16,103

15,786

12,020

11,529

11,610

12,049

Current EBITDA *
% of revenue
Current EBIT *
% of revenue
EBIT *
% of revenue

Total Equity
Net Financial Debt *

€ per share

€ per share

€ per share

€ per share

€ per share

€ per share

Earnings
Basic

1.46

2.11

1.93

1.43

-

-

Diluted

1.46

2.09

1.92

1.42

-

-

0.23

0.21

0.19

0.16

0.15

0.13

Net Dividend

0.1725

0.1575

0.1425

0.1200

0.1100

0.0998

Payout Ratio*

15.8%

10.0%

9.8%

11.2%

-

-

85,023,928

85,020,028

Gross Dividend

Outstanding shares at 31 December
(net of treasury shares)

* Defined in Glossary on Page 87
** Revenue in 2004 and 2003 adjusted to reclassify transport costs into cost of sales
*** Adjusted to exclude proposed dividend and treasury shares

85,022,128

85,640,538

85,635,288

88,210,933
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Analysis of revenue
By industrial activity
Other 12%

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

By geographical area

Gravity Systems 37%

Other Building
Products 13%

Latin America 14%

Europa 48%

Asia, Australasia
and Africa 12%

Pressure Systems 38%

North America 26%

Agenda
Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting
Wednesday 27 May 2009

At the Group’s Registered Office,
Avenue de Tervueren, 270
B-1150 Brussels, Belgium
Payment of Dividend

Wednesday 1 July 2009

First half 2009 results
September 2009

Board Meeting to approve first half 2009 results
Press Announcement
Full year 2009 results
April 2010

Board Meeting to approve 2009 results
Press Announcement

The Aliaxis Group is an international group of businesses that are
primarily engaged in the manufacturing and commercialisation
of plastic solutions for fluid transport. Our products target
both residential and commercial construction, in new build and
renovation. They are also used in a wide range of industrial and
public utility applications.

“To be a global leader for plastics fluid
handling solutions universally respected for innovation,
quality, excellent service and value”

The Aliaxis Group is present in over 50
countries throughout the world. We
are represented in the marketplace
through more than 100 manufacturing
and commercial companies who employ
over 16,000 people. We produce and
trade using strong regional brands
that are firmly established with the
community of trade professionals
in their local market. Some of our
companies represent widely recognised
international brands, available in many
markets around the globe.

Aliaxis’ strengths
Our People

The Aliaxis Group offering consists
primarily of innovative solutions for
fluid handling. These are applied and
appreciated by installers and distribution
partners such as building and plumbing
wholesalers, civil engineering and
infrastructure contractors and
municipalities, utilities companies and
contractors.

The entrepreneurial spirit thrives in
Aliaxis people - the balance between
the independent entrepreneurial spirit
combined with the strength, resources
and discipline of an international
company defines the Group.

Our Know-How

Market and customer know-how.
At Aliaxis we combine our knowledge
of local markets, customers, regulations
and building habits and we leverage this
knowledge at a regional and global level.

Our Reach

Aliaxis strives to maintain a balance
between global presence and local
awareness. We truly are a global
company seeking to solidify our positions
in key areas throughout the world.
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aliaxis letter to shareholders

Following the emergence of the subprime crisis in 2007, 2008 has been the
year in which the consequences of that
crisis gradually spread over the entire
banking and credit system and then
to the ‘real’ economy thereby causing
the economic crisis that we are facing
today. Without exception, but to various
degrees, the consequences of this crisis
now affect the worldwide economy and
business in general.
For Aliaxis, reductions in activity
obviously linked to the sub-prime crisis
arose first in North America but have
also occurred mainly towards the end
of the year in Latin America, Europe and
the other territories in which we have
operations. The slowdown has varied
in intensity depending on the territory
and the business activity concerned. In
North America the US housing market
collapsed triggering tough trading
conditions in some neighbouring
countries such as Mexico. In Europe, the
UK and Spain have been particularly hit.
2008 has been a year of contrast for the
Group with a good performance in the first
half of the year, gradually giving way to a
more difficult environment in the second
half: in particular the fourth quarter
suffered from significantly deteriorating
trading conditions. As was the case for
consumption in general and despite a
marked decrease in interest rates in the
second half of 2008, construction activity
fell as a result of the uncertainty in the
financial markets and world economic
prospects. At the same time raw material
prices also started to decrease rapidly
towards the end of the year.
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Although below those of the record
year of 2007, the Group has managed to
generate satisfactory operational results
and, as a consequence, a good level of
operating cash flow. The divestment of
Greenwood, a UK ventilation business
no longer considered to be part of the
Group’s core business, has positively
impacted the results and the financial
position of the Group.
A significantly high portion of the
operating cash flow has been reinvested
in the Group businesses to launch
new products and to optimise the
efficiency of our industrial footprint,
thereby preserving the quality of our
offer, as well as supporting our product
development activities. In this context,
the Group acquired a further major
part of its industrial site in Lenham (UK)
where some of the Group’s businesses
are already operating, and which is of
particular importance for the future
centralisation of our manufacturing
activities in the UK.
In addition, a number of strategic
growth opportunities have been
pursued with the objective of entering
into or strengthening our presence in
key geographic markets such as the
acquisition of Provinil (a Brazilian pipes
and fittings business). Other acquisitions
such as Dalpex, an Italian producer of
multilayer pipes and fittings solutions,
have provided a further strengthening
of our position in the hot and cold water
market. An example that combines
both objectives is the acquisition of RX
Plastics, which at the same time added
rural, irrigation and water treatment
solutions to the Group’s presence in New
Zealand and significantly reinforced the
position in this region.

revi ew ‘0 8
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As a result, the level of indebtedness of
the Group broadly stayed at the same
level as in 2007.
Reinforcement of manufacturing,
commercial, logistical and administrative
cooperation between the companies
of the Group was another strategic
objective on which the Group has
focused during the course of the year.
In this context a number of key projects
which will contribute to the efficiency
of the Group have been carried out or
initiated.
Some of these projects have been
achieved in 2008, such as the regrouping
of the extrusion activities of Marley
Plumbing & Drainage and Hunter
Plastics in the UK on the Lenham
site and the rationalisation of the
production activities in Germany and
Hungary leading to the closure of a
manufacturing site in Germany. A similar
reorganisation was carried out in New
Zealand, where the production of Dux
has been transferred to other Group
companies in the region. Other projects
such as a more global reorganization of
our UK activities have been announced
and will be carried out in 2009. Similar
initiatives are likely to be announced
during the course of this year.

“The Aliaxis Group has managed to
generate satisfactory operational results and,
as a consequence, a good level of operating cash flow”

The search for internal growth
opportunities through new product
development and line extensions has
been continued since it has proven
to be a key factor to maintain the
competitiveness and profitability of our
companies. The Group has encouraged
and will continue to encourage an
increased ‘cross fertilisation’ whereby
the combined product portfolio is
made available to all companies, in all
territories, with the aim of leveraging
the Group’s extensive product range
throughout its very wide geographic
range.
In 2009 a number of important changes
to the Group organisation are planned,
the first of which is the retirement in
May of Yves Noiret from his position
of Chief Executive Officer and the
appointment, subject to statutory
approvals, of Yves Mertens, previously

Aliaxis Group Chief Financial Officer,
as Managing Director of Aliaxis SA
assuming the overall responsibility of
the Group (Chief Executive Officer). Colin
Leach, previously Division Director for the
Africa - Asia - Australasia region, will take
on the role of Chief Operating Officer, in
charge of the operations of the Group on
a day to day basis.
As to the immediate future, the Group
and its management are aware that
2009 will, due to the global economic
recession, be an extremely challenging
year with little visibility in the market
outlook. Against such a backdrop, a
number of actions have already been
taken, including strict working capital
management, limitations of capital
expenditure where this can be achieved
without harming the competitive
position of its businesses, adaptation
of production rates and reduction of
overheads. These measures will be
continued during 2009 and constantly
reviewed in function of the prevailing
circumstances, it being understood that,
where and when possible, flexibility will
be the preferred means of action.

t h e

In short, 2009 will be a year in which the
Group will be keenly alert to changing
economic circumstances and will take
fast additional actions as required in
order to preserve the Group’s sound
financial structure.
The Group is and will remain attentive to
macroeconomic and construction market
developments and will do all what
is necessary to anticipate changes in
market conditions, thereby preserving its
short term competitive position and its
growth potential for the future as soon
as the world economy recovery allows.
We would like to thank our employees
for their continued commitment and
dedication and we are looking forward to
their contribution to the future success
of the Aliaxis Group.

Yves Noiret
Chief Executive Officer
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aliaxis corporate governance

“The Board is committed to maintaining
high standards of corporate governance
throughout the Group”

Financial Audit Committee

The Financial Audit Committee supports
the Board in monitoring the accounting
and financial reporting of the Group and
in reviewing the scope and results of its
external and internal audit procedures.
The Committee met twice during 2008,
and its members were Philippe Voortman (Chairman) and Philippe Leemans,
plus an external member, Anthony Wilson, a former Chief Executive of Glynwed
International PLC.

Composition of
the Board of Directors
The members of the Board of Directors
during 2008 were as follows:

Jean-Louis Piérard
Chairman
Olivier van der Rest

Remuneration Committee

D e p ut y C h a i r m a n
Yves Noiret

COMMITTEES OF THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

C h i e f E x e c ut i v e O f f i c e r
Andréa Hatschek
Philippe Leemans
(R e p r e s e n t i n g ASB I n v e sts SPRL)
Kieran Murphy
Alain Siaens
Bernard Steyaert
Henri Thijssen
Philippe Voortman
Jean-Lucien Lamy (as of May 28th 2008)

Aliaxis S.A. is a private company whose
shares are not listed on any regulated
stock market. Nevertheless, the Board
is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance throughout the Group.
The Board of Directors met four times
during 2008.
There are four standing committees,
each of which supports the Board in specific aspects of its role of monitoring and
supervising the activities and management of the Group:
Strategy Committee
The Strategy Committee is responsible
for reviewing the strategic direction of
the Group, including its business plans
and major opportunities for investment including capital expenditure,
acquisitions, strategic alliances and joint
ventures. The Committee met four times
during 2008, and consisted of Jean-Louis
Piérard (Chairman), Kieran Murphy, Yves
Noiret, Olivier van der Rest, Henri Thijssen and Jean-Lucien Lamy.

t h e
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The Remuneration Committee supports
the Board in reviewing remuneration
at Executive Committee level. The
Committee, which met three times
during 2008, consisted of Alain Siaens
(Chairman) and Bernard Steyaert.

Selection Committee

The Selection Committee advises on
Board-level appointments to the
Company. The Committee, which met
3 times during 2008, consisted of
Jean-Louis Piérard (Chairman), Olivier
van der Rest and Henri Thijssen.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
The Board delegates responsibility for
the day to day management of the
Group to Yves Noiret (Chief Executive
Officer) in his capacity as Managing
Director. Mr Noiret is supported by the
Executive Committee consisting of a
group of senior managers
representing its various operating
divisions and corporate functions.
The primary role of the Executive
Committee is to develop and implement
the overall strategy as recommended
by the Strategy Committee and
approved by the Board of Directors.

The Executive Committee during 2008
(from left to right):
Doug McCollum (Strategic Marketing and Development Director),
Giorgio Valle (Division Director), Paul Graddon (Division Director),
Yves Noiret (Chief Executive Officer), Corrado Mazzacano (Division Director),
Alistair Vearonelly (Division Director), Yves Mertens (Finance Director/
Division Director), Hubert Dubout (Company Secretary)

AUDITOR

REGISTERED OFFICE

Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler
Bedrijfsrevisoren – Reviseurs d’Entreprises
represented by Benoit Van Roost
Avenue du Bourget, 40
B-1130 Brussels, Belgium

Aliaxis S.A.
Avenue de Tervueren, 270,
B-1150 Brussels, Belgium
No. Entreprise: 0860 005 067
Tel: +32 2 775 50 50 - Fax: +32 2 775 50 51
Website: www.aliaxis.com
E-mail address: aliaxis@aliaxis.com
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aliaxis markets building and sanitary solutions

Aliaxis Group companies design, manufacture and market
solutions for building and sanitary applications. Key product
ranges include: soil and waste pipes and fittings (DWV), rain
water collection, hot and cold water, fire sprinklers, electrical
conduits, sewage and drainage, waste outlets and traps,
flushing mechanisms and concealed cisterns.

“The key to our future success will be
a continued focus on innovative solutions, geographic
growth and leveraging our strengths across
the Group’s companies”

Broadly, the industry is segmented
into building products and sanitary
products. Building products include a
diverse mix of both pressure and nonpressure offerings. Aliaxis continues
to be among the industry leaders in
plastic waste water solutions and plastic
rainwater collection systems. Against a
background of increased environmental
and ecological awareness, our plastic
solutions provide tangible benefits
in terms of design flexibility, ease of
installation and noise reduction.
Specific product segments within the
sanitary sector of building materials
include WC cisterns both in front
of the wall and concealed, flushing
mechanisms and showerheads, shower
and floor drainage, waste outlets and
traps, ventilation products such as
extractor fans and passive window
and domestic ventilation systems and
residential hot and cold water systems.
The latter product segment is a major
growth area for Aliaxis.
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Functionality, ease of installation
and trouble-free operation are key
parameters for these offerings. However,
customer aesthetic trends for products
that are visible, such as flushing
plates and shower drains are placing
an increasing importance on design,
creating unique opportunities for new
products. In addition, an increasing
focus on specific issues such as water
management and acoustic performance
creates continuing opportunities for
product development and innovation
both in residential and commercial
applications. In this context, the Aliaxis
Group is committed to contribute
to the development of sustainable
environmental solutions that provide
intelligent systems to answer major
issues of flooding risk, water scarcity and
quality of potable water.
Building and sanitary products target
three primary outlets: professional
(wholesalers), DIY and OEMs. Those
Aliaxis companies active in the sanitary
market work closely with OEMs, who
come to Aliaxis for technological
solutions for specific design challenges.

t h e
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aliaxis markets infrastructure

The Aliaxis companies have a long history of supplying pipe
systems solutions for infrastructure applications throughout
the globe.
Our companies offer a wide range of solutions for the
infrastructure market, from utilities, gas and water distribution
networks over municipal pressure systems, complete sewer
solutions, including odour control and irrigation networks. We have
the capability of offering a complete product portfolio
to the infrastructure contractors market.

“A worldwide capability to offer
the civils and infrastructure market a complete
and innovative product portfolio”

With a long track record in the
infrastructure business, the Aliaxis
subsidiaries provide state-of-the-art
product engineering expertise to meet
the demanding requirements of today’s
complex municipal pressure and gravity
applications. Products include large
diameter PVC pressure pipe and fittings,
complemented with specific valves, stops
and universal transition couplings. Key
attributes include proven strength and
flexibility, combined with outstanding
resistance to corrosion and to chemical
attack.
For PE gas and water distribution networks,
the Aliaxis companies offer a wide
choice of jointing systems, ranging from
electrofusion to butt welding and from
push systems to compression fittings. In
most of these ranges, through its brands,
Aliaxis is recognised as one of the world
leaders, not only in terms of sales volumes,
but also in terms of innovation and
technical development capabilities.
In recent years, we have seen an
increasing uptake in the utilisation of PE
piping systems both for water and gas
distribution outside Europe.

t h e

Thanks to its global reach, coupled with
the manufacturing skills available in its
European plants, Aliaxis is in an ideal
position to seize these new opportunities.
In particular, the establishment of a
manufacturing unit in India will enable
the Group to serve the requirements
of both the local market and those of
neighbouring countries.
Product innovation has always been a key
element in meeting the evolving needs of
the gas and water companies as well as
of our civil infrastructure customers. The
Group will continue to invest to maintain
its market-leading position, providing new
products that meet its customers’ needs
on a global scale.
As such, and in response to customers’
needs, market trends and impending
legislation dictating the way we manage
and control water today and tomorrow,
the Aliaxis group has drawn on its broad
experience, international coverage and
ongoing R&D investment, to develop
a sustainable water solutions offering.
We intend to support engineering
offices, municipalities and all developers
confronted by new legislation to manage
water around their building and overall
infrastructure environment, by providing
solutions for storm water management
and local water treatment.
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aliaxis markets industry

The Aliaxis Group’s offering provides solutions for fluid handling
in targeted industry applications such as chemical processing,
pharmaceutical and biotechnology, water treatment, cooling, fuel
transportation, metal treatment and refining.
In addition, large community buildings such as hospitals, airports,
train stations, stadia, spas and swimming pools are key application
areas. Aliaxis’ industrial companies also supply specialist drainage
solutions such as chemical waste systems for laboratories in
schools and hospitals. Key product ranges include: industrial piping
systems, pumps, valves, flow measurement devices and high
precision industrial ceramics.

“Offering tailor-made technical
solutions for a global industrial customer base”

A significant portion of the industrial
product range focuses on thermoplastic
piping systems which offer cost-effective
solutions while providing chemical
resistance, abrasion resistance and safety
performance in challenging technical
environments. The piping systems are
completed with valves, actuators, flow
measurement devices and plastic and
metal pumps, allowing us to offer our
industrial customers a full solution for
their fluid transport needs.
The respective Aliaxis companies within
the Group that manufacture and market
these solutions have a long history of
proven performance worldwide.  
Leveraging the combined strength of the
individual companies and their specific
product and application knowledge has
been crucial to improving the Group’s

t h e

performance and value in our target
markets. It has been the comprehensive
integration of these companies’ product
portfolios and competencies that has set
and raised the competitive standard.
A key success factor for Aliaxis’ industrial
solutions is product substitution.
Utilizing the most cost-effective
materials for the target market and
applications, the Group has been able to
grow at an accelerated rate. With this,
it benefits not only from each specific
sector’s growth, but achieves the added
effect of displacing other materials for
the same application.
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review of trading activities europe

Europe

“Satisfactory performance overall but
difficult market conditions in the second half of 2008”
building
The European market for building
products remained positive and robust
in the first months of 2008, until the
sub-prime crisis and subsequent general
credit tightening caused many markets
to slow down. The resulting reduction
in housing starts was felt particularly
strongly in the UK and Spanish markets.
France
2007 was a record year for the
construction industry and the first
months of 2008 looked promising
despite the decline in the construction
of new individual housing observed
since 2007. As the year progressed,
trends became less favourable and
the market was strongly affected by
the financial crisis and the resulting
economic downturn. By the end of the
year, construction of new housing was
down by 6% and construction of new
commercial buildings by 2%. As usual in
a period of crisis, the renovation market
segment held better with a 2% increase.
The good performance of Nicoll was
supported by the launch of Fluxo, the
new pipes and fittings system for hot
and cold water, and the extension of
Nicoll’s Kenadrain and Connecto product
lines. The outlook for 2009 is challenging
and difficult to forecast as consumers
are pessimistic and credit is tightened.
The market for new residential housing
and commercial buildings is expected to
decline by around 10%. The renovation
market is expected to remain flat or to
show a modest growth. Depending on
the success of Government economic
support programs, the market could
recover in the second half of 2009.
Nicoll holds a strong position in each
market segment and schedules an
ambitious program of launching eight
new products in 2009, mainly in the
sustainable water solutions area. It is

t h e
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therefore expected to perform above
market average as soon as construction
markets pick up again.
UK
Construction in the UK was significantly
affected by the economic slowdown
during 2008. It is anticipated to suffer
significant falls in the coming years with
recovery not expected for some time.
Housing has been affected particularly
badly: new housing starts in Great
Britain are anticipated to fall to levels not
seen since 1924 (excluding World War II).
The industrial sector has also suffered.
The new build of warehouses has
dropped 30% during 2008 and a further
double-digit fall is expected during 2009.
The commercial sector is expected to
endure sharp falls during 2009 and 2010
with office construction alone expected
to fall 50% in the next two years. For our
UK operations this has lead to a market

revi ew ‘0 8
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environment characterised by merchant
branch closures, an acceleration of
merchants’ destocking and increased
price pressure. As a consequence,
a number of initiatives have been
implemented to reduce fixed costs as
well as manufacturing costs.
Italy
After a decade of stable growth in
Italy, the building industry has been
confronted with a significant slowdown.
Both residential and non-residential
new building constructions in Italy have
decreased and even the renovation
market has slowed down. This situation
is not expected to improve before the
end of 2009. These conditions have
lead to an acceleration of market price
erosion. Despite challenging conditions
of the total market, the Aliaxis
companies in Italy maintain a leading
position thanks to the longstanding

Germany
2008 has been marked with a sudden
deterioration of the economic climate,
impacting all segments of the
construction market.

relations with its reliable customer base.
Opportunities are available in product
innovation around improved acoustic
performance, water saving solutions and
design-driven products.
Spain
After above average growth for the last
years, the construction sector outlook in
the Iberian Peninsula has deteriorated
rapidly forcing our companies to adapt
their operations accordingly. A short
term return to pre-crisis volumes is not
foreseeable in the near future.

The outlook for the construction industry
remains difficult. In 2008, this evolution
was marked by a further drop in building
permits, especially in the single family
home construction sector. Fortunately,
this was countered by a limited growth
in commercial and industrial building.

Investment in new manufacturing
technologies played an important
role in Aliaxis’ activities in Germany,
driven amongst others by a European
re-organisation of our PP pipe systems
manufacturing footprint. Folding door
production has been transferred from
Marley Germany to Marley Hungary,
whereas Wefa’s PP-R production and
logistics moved from Attendorn to
Marley Germany in Wunstorf.

The impact of the financial crisis became
especially evident in the second half with
the report that Germany had reached an
economic recession. For 2009, leading
business institutes predict stagnation.
Competition, customer consolidation
and the general evolution of the
construction market will also influence
the performance for 2009.

Central and Eastern Europe
In Central and Eastern Europe,
2008 showed a strong market for
infrastructure projects, while new
residential housing has grown especially
in the first half of the year. In a clearly
deteriorating second half of 2008, Aliaxis
has been able to maintain its market
share.

t h e
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review of trading activities europe

Industrial
The economic environment showed a
progressive deterioration during the year.
In general, Aliaxis’ industrial companies
performed strongly. In fact the first quarter
had been quite positive with a strong
growth trend against last year and, even
if in the following months activity level
slowed down, the industrial division was
able to increase sales compared to 2007.

Sanitary
Within a context of fierce competition in
the waste outlets and traps segment, our
companies managed to reinforce their
leadership position in France, Spain and
Portugal during 2008 through innovative
product launches. The year has been
particularly difficult in Spain in a strongly
decreasing market where, despite
declining sales, Aliaxis has maintained
its leadership position. Satisfactory
progress has been made in Germany and
the UK, challenging leading incumbents.
Dynamic product development with
new bi-injected traps and components,
a complete new shower channel drain
range, as well as advanced solutions
for OEM customers enabled Aliaxis to
secure a unique positioning, serving
all distribution networks (sanitary
wholesalers, DIY and OEM) with bespoke
differentiated offers.

t h e
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Regarding the WC equipment range,
2008 has been a successful year for
Sanit with a strong development in
the German concealed cisterns market
through the sanitary professional
distribution channel, as well as a
continuous sales development of flush
and float valves in France, the UK and
Spain. Our product development efforts
focus amongst others on improved flush
mechanisms, concealed cisterns with
high end design operating plates, and
new WC equipment designed for the
specific needs of the UK market.
In 2008, Aliaxis has been able to develop
its WC equipment range to become a
global challenger covering all market
segments and all types of distribution
networks.
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Several geographic areas held up better
than global indicators would suggest.
Export from our European companies
towards Middle East, Eastern Europe
and China was rather strong throughout
the year, but also some Western Europe
countries like UK and Germany produced
satisfactory results. There was a successful
effort to keep a good balance between raw
material cost and selling price.
Among the applications, water treatment
of process industry, desalination and
purification stayed at a high level
along with the pharmaceutical industry
and food and drinks specialists.
Some heavier industry segments which
gave an excellent result in the previous
years (e.g. steel, oil exploration, mining and
refining, shipbuilding and automotive)
showed visible signs of a clear slowdown
which will produce its full effect in 2009.

“Adverse market conditions in
Europe have been partially offset by geographical
expansion and market driven product innovations”

Master Distribution

Utilities
The Utilities Division supplies PE pipe
systems for water and gas applications,
including electro-fusion fittings for PE
pipes.

The Groups’s Master Distribution division
promotes and distributes, through local
companies, a wide range of the Groups’
products in countries where otherwise
it would only have a limited presence.

2008 has been a difficult year for
our Utilities Division, due to several
unfavourable factors, such as a drop
in the demand in several European
countries, especially in Spain and the
UK linked to the weak situation of the
housing market and a strong increase in
the cost of raw materials, which has not
always been possible to pass on to the
market. Supply of raw material has been
a concern, but with new plants expected
to be commissioned in 2009, this is not
perceived as an issue.
Fortunately for the fittings businesses
the effect of these adverse conditions
has been dampened by the continuous
growth in new geographical markets.

The Master Distribution companies
continued their development during
2008, with sales growth in existing
product lines together with new
agreements with Group manufacturing
companies boosting the order intake.
The first half of the year was stronger
than the second half, with strong growth
being seen in Eastern Europe and
Russia throughout the year. A number
of organisational changes were made
which will result in a leaner and more
effective organisation, and the project
to standardize the IT system throughout
the Division is progressing well, resulting
in an enhancement of its service
capabilities.

Several new products have been
launched, and two of these deserve to be
mentioned. Firstly, the extremely positive
feedback received for Frialoc (the new PE
shut off valve launched in late 2007 by
Friatec) from all major water companies
in Germany and abroad to whom the
product was presented and secondly, a
new system composed of pipe, fittings
and accessories has been developed for
the fast developing geothermal market
that will be launched in early 2009.
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review of trading activities North America

North America

“Overall, a satisfactory year
  in a difficult market environment”

The global economic crisis that has been sparked by the collapse of
the U.S. housing and mortgage markets has had an unprecedented
impact on the construction industry. This highly uncertain market
outlook will continue to have repercussions in the foreseeable
future.

In North America, Aliaxis has undertaken
a review of its overall cost base in order
to be better prepared for a more severe
downturn in our business.
After reaching highs in 2007 not seen in
the last century, the Canadian dollar fell to
77.2 U.S. cents, a four year low, in October
2008, as the financial crisis became
global and the U.S. dollar appreciated
to unexpected levels compared to most
currencies. The slide in the Canadian
dollar is attributed to various factors,
including a very uncertain economic
environment, free falling prices on
commodities and in equity markets.
Despite the difficult market conditions
in North America and a negotiated
settlement of certain product liability
claims, the Aliaxis companies have
performed well. This is due in part to
the commitment made some years
ago to new product development. This
has generated a steady stream of new
product lines and product line extensions
that have gained market share. Aliaxis
companies offer innovative solutions
and/or replace traditional materials
with plastic alternatives. The steady
growth in sales and income of these
new solutions has helped cushion the
impact of the decreased volume and
the pricing pressures on our commodity
products. Ipex’ commitment to product
development bodes well for the future.
Currently there are several active projects
in various stages of development and
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even more projects in the queue for
future development. As a result of a major
investment effort, Ipex will officially
be launching Bionax in 2009, a lighter
weight biaxially oriented pressure pipe
with high performance characteristics
that exceed current standards for the
potable water markets. By the end of
2011, known new products launched in
the preceding five year period should
represent more than 15% of annual sales.
In Canada, despite a 9% decrease in
housing activity, overall volumes were
moderately higher than in 2007. The
pressures on pricing and the increase in
raw material costs, however, resulted in
lower dollar revenues and margins.
In the U.S., notwithstanding a 34% decline
in residential construction and a 5%
reduction in commercial construction
activity, Aliaxis increased share in
many of its markets.With an industry
decline of 15% in polyethylene pipe
shipments for gas distribution and small
diameter potable water applications,
Aliaxis subsidiaries’ electro-fusion sales
nonetheless grew by 14% due to the
successful launch of a high quality,
economical tapping tee. This tapping tee
has opened the door at a number of gas
utilities enabling us to pull-through other
electro-fusion products.
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In the electrical segment, Aliaxis
companies displaced PVC competitors
in several branches of two of the largest
electrical distributors in America. This
has resulted in a 10% sales increase in
2008 with these distributors whose
overall PVC business is actually down
33% year-to-date. Sales of KwikPath, a
CPVC plenum raceway, tripled in 2008.
This product is capturing a share of the
PVDF market and is positioned to further
increase market share in 2009.
Congruent with the Aliaxis commitment
to the environment, it has successfully
brought to market Ecolotube, a triple
wall sewer pipe that contains an
average of 51%+ of recycled material.
This new product development has been
exceptionally well received in the market
place. Operationally, Aliaxis invested in
eight different plants in North America
to increase capacity. This provides a
better service on existing product lines
and improves our ability to accelerate
the growth of new products.
Cooperative initiatives undertaken
between Aliaxis companies in North
America and in Latin America will
permit the Group to capitalise on the
consolidation of raw material purchases
and selectively take advantage of lower
cost manufacturing opportunities.

“The Aliaxis companies in North
America weathered the economic storm relatively
well in 2008. This is the result of continuous
innovation and other major initiatives”
Aliaxis in North America and elsewhere
is committed to occupational safety
and health. A significant number of our
North American manufacturing and
distribution locations have succeeded
in achieving years without a single lost
time accident. In particular, two of our
manufacturing sites in Ontario, Canada
achieved eight years with no lost time
accidents.
As we enter 2009, we will have to
weather an unprecedented global
financial crisis is at risk of getting
worse before it gets better. Consumers,
businesses, institutions, utilities and
municipalities will find it much more
difficult to access affordable financing.
Most sectors will be affected one way
or another. U.S. residential housing
development may dip lower than
800,000 starts in 2009, from an
estimated 900,000 in 2008 and a peak
of over 2 million in 2005. Canadian house
construction is predicted to fall below
170,000 starts compared with the 2008
levels forecast at 208,000 and the 20
year peak in 2007 at 228,000 starts.

This level of activity, which will be the
lowest in decades and will undoubtedly
put even more pressure on producers to
increase market share in their attempt
to optimise manufacturing efficiencies.
This could result in an adverse effect on
pricing and margins.
In 2009 we will employ many of the
same strategies as in the past to reach
our targets. We will leverage our broad
package and key relationships to increase
our share of fittings and the more
profitable pipe products. Specification
work, which has proven to favour us both
in volume and profit, will take on an even
greater focus in all of our business units.
Not all of Aliaxis’ businesses in North
America are directly related to the
housing industry. Despite the severe
economic conditions surrounding U.S.
residential business, industrial demand
remained stable throughout 2008.
The combination of a closely managed
fixed-cost base, low capital investment
needs and aggressive strategic
market diversification over the past
seven years has positioned Harrington,
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our distribution business in the US,
to maintain a growth-centric business
philosophy and achieve solid profits
in 2008. A wide geographic spread of
Aliaxis industrial sales and distribution
centres positioned us to capture market
share from smaller regional competitors.
In the first half of 2009, a softening of
industrial demand is expected as the U.S.
recession more strongly affects major
projects. To mitigate this weaker demand
and enhance inter-company synergies,
distribution of products manufactured
by other Aliaxis businesses is being
expanded.
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review of trading activities Latin America

Latin America

“Our strategic acquisition in
Brazil shows a strong growth potential in the largest
South American market”
Growth in the Latin American region,
where the Group operates mainly under
the Durman and Nicoll brand, stopped
in the second half of 2008, mainly due
to the global financial crisis. The cost
base has been adjusted, together with
an optimisation of our manufacturing
footprint. Gross margins have been
under increasing pressure during the last
quarter of the year, due to falling pipe
and fitting prices, combined with high
stock levels of expensive raw materials,
built up to avoid potential nonavailability during the hurricane season.

Mexico
Mexico was the first country in Latin
America to feel the US slowdown
and started to decline almost at the
same time as the US, mainly in the
private construction market. Despite
government support for infrastructure
projects, both sales and margins have
been under pressure, partially also driven
by price-oriented competitors.
Central Amercia and Puerto Rico
With the exception of Nicaragua
and Puerto Rico, all Central American
countries had a good GDP growth during
2008, with overall sales strong but with
margins under pressure because of the
highly-priced resin raw materials buffer
set up to tide the business through the
hurricane season. The Panama canal
investment will support construction
activities in Panama in 2009. However,
the remainder of the Central American
countries have started to feel the
shortage of demand due to lack of
liquidity and project financing mainly
during the last two months of the year.
We expect this trend to continue during
the first semester of 2009.
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Colombia
Until May, demand was supported by
Government funding to local authorities
but the remainder of the year has been
more difficult. Contribution levels improved
through a positive change in product mix.
In September, Aliaxis acquired the
assets of the competitor, Celta, located
in Barranquilla, so increasing the local
extrusion manufacturing capacity by 40%.
All manufacturing equipment of our rented
plant in Cartagena has been moved to the
new plant at Barranquilla. Moreover, a new
manufacturing facility near Bogota will be
commissioned during the first quarter of
2009, enabling the centralisation of the
manufacturing capacity of two existing
plants to increase efficiency.
Peru, Argentina and Uruguay
The Peruvian economy has thrived during
2008, driven by strong private and public
investment, notably in irrigation systems
and water transportation to support crops
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diversification. Sales and contribution levels
have been satisfactory in Peru during 2009.
A new manufacturing facility was started
at Chiclayo in the North, and more land
was purchased next to the manufacturing
plant at Lurin city close to Lima, to enable
the transfer of the manufacturing facility of
Lima to Lurin during 2010.
Both Argentina and Uruguay have suffered
from long strikes, leading to little economic
activity for periods of more than sixty days.
Brazil
In October 2008, the PVC business of a
big Brazilian corporation that wished to
concentrate on its core businesses outside
of PVC converting, was acquired. The
acquisition of this business, called Provinil,
being the number three in the Brazilian PVC
pipe market, represents a significant growth
opportunity. Investment programmes are
already in place for 2009 to support this
business in a promising Brazilian market.

review of trading activities Asia, Australasia and Africa

Asia, Australasia and Africa

“Further strengthening of our
position in the rural and irrigation infrastructure market
in New Zealand”

The utilities market saw an improvement
in the second half of 2008 as Telecom
New Zealand started to roll out their
cabinetisation project and independent
networks such as FX networks installed
their own fibre optic cable network in
the North Island.
Asia
Aliaxis successfully reached agreement in
November 2008 to acquire the remaining
40% shareholding in Paling Industries from
our joint venture partner. The Group now
owns 100% of Paling. Over recent years
Paling has improved its manufacturing
capability in order to provide low cost
production to other Group companies.
For example, Paling now manufactures all
of Dux Industries (New Zealand) injection
moulded products. It also manufactures
product for Marley Plumbing & Drainage
in the UK. Now that the Group has secured
100% of Paling this capability can be
leveraged further.
In China, Universal experienced difficult
trading conditions towards the end of
the year as housing activity fell sharply.
Strong cost containment measures have
mitigated the impact on profitability. The
business has worked hard at refocussing
on other markets such as industrial and
Government projects, with some success.

Australia
Philmac’s Safelok compression fitting
range developed for the mining industry
continued to make good headway in
2008, while the outlook for the mining
sector is subdued due to the sharp drop
in demand.
Overall, the outlook for infrastructure
spends has improved as the Government
intensifies investment in transportation,
communications and water as a means
of fiscal stimulus.
New Zealand
The acquisition of RX Plastics in
April 2008 allowed Aliaxis to further
improve its position in the rural and
irrigation infrastructure market. Until
the fourth quarter, the market for rural
infrastructure was very strong as wool
and beef farms were converted to dairy
farms. Aliaxis Group companies have
been able to supply a number of such
significant conversion projects.
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Marley New Zealand has been able
to win a considerable amount of
civil projects, mainly in waste water
management, including the Taupo
mainline. As in most other markets,
2009 is expected to see an increase
in Government-funded infrastructure
spend as a means of fiscal stimulus.
South Africa
Marley Plumbing Systems added a new
large diameter PVC line to the grid to
enable the manufacture of 450mm pipe.
Our South-African subsidiary grew its
civil engineering business by 10% as
South Africa continued to build water
and sanitation infrastructure amongst
other investments in preparation for the
Soccer World Cup. Petroplas (pipe for
fuel applications) received accreditation
in 2007. Sales into the US and European
markets were encouraging. Rhine Ruhr
Pumps and Valves had a record year with
a number of key projects supplying the
infrastructure market.
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aliaxis worldwide

Aliaxis, a global presence

Mexico

EUROPE
Austria

Italy

• Glynwed
• Marley

Benelux

• Akatherm International
(NL)
• Akatherm - Vigotec (B)
• Arnomij (NL)
• Glynwed (NL-B)
• Nicoll (B)

Eastern Europe

• Glynwed (BU - CZ - HU LT - PL - RO - RU)
• Marley (CZ - HU - PL)
• Poliplast (PL)

France
•
•
•
•
•

Girpi
Glynwed
Innoge (Monaco)
Nicoll
S.A.S.

t h e
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Astore
Dalpex
Europlast
FIP
Glynwed
Nicoll
Redi - Redi HT

Scandinavia

• Glynwed Denmark
• Glynwed Sweden

Spain
•
•
•
•
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Canplas
Hamilton Kent
Ipex
Straub Tadco

USA
•
•
•
•
•

Canplas
Friatec
Hamilton Kent
Harrington Ind. Plastics
Ipex

• Nicoll

Brazil

• Glynwed
• Nicoll

United Kingdom

i n

•
•
•
•

Argentina

• Durapipe
• GPS-PE Pipe Systems
• Hunter Plastics Multikwik
• Marley Plumbing &
Drainage
• Marley Alutec
• Philmac

year

Canada

LATIN AMERICA

Glynwed
Jimten
MASA
Riuvert

• Glynwed
• Straub

Abu-Plast
Akatherm FIP
Friatec
Marley
Sanit
SED
Wefa Plastic

alia xis

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Switzerland

Germany
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

North america

2 0

Central America

• Dureco (GT - HN - SV)
• Durman (CR - GT - NI - PA)

Chile

• Vinilit

Columbia

• Tubotec
• Tuvinil

• Durman
• Multitubos

Peru

• Nicoll

Puerto Rico

• Transworld Industries

Uruguay

• Nicoll

ASIA AUSTRALASIA
& AFRICA
Asia
•
•
•
•

Glynwed (India, China)
GPS Asia (Singapore)
Paling (Malaysia)
Universal Hardware
(China)

Australia/New Zealand
•
•
•
•
•
•

Chemvin (NZ)
Dynex Extrusions (NZ)
Dux (NZ)
Marley (NZ)
Philmac (AUS)
RX Plastics (NZ)

South Africa

• Marley Pipe Systems
• Rhine Ruhr Pumps &
Valves
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Directors’ Report
Trading Overview
Although below that of the record
year of 2007, Aliaxis has achieved an
overall satisfactory performance in
2008 when taking into account the
gradually worsening economic situation.
This performance has mainly been the
result of a first half that was broadly in
line with expectations, followed by a
slowdown as from July. The downturn
became particularly pronounced in the
last quarter, when the consequences
of the subprime crisis and the resulting
general economic recession fully
impacted the worldwide construction
industry.
As expected, given the origins of the
subprime crisis, the drop in activity
in North America which was already
apparent at the end of 2007, accelerated
during the year. This was especially
the case for the US where the housing
market slowed very rapidly after
summer and, more particularly, in the
later months of 2008. The Canadian
market, however, showed resilience
and activity remained in line with the
expectations at the beginning of the year.
Notwithstanding the prevailing market
conditions overall performance for the
year as a whole in the region remained at
an acceptable level.
Spill over effects of these tough US
market conditions troubled neighbouring
markets where Aliaxis has operations,
particularly those of Mexico. The
weakness of the Mexican economy
became, together with a general pressure
on margins in most parts of the region,
the main concern of the Group’s joint
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venture operations in Latin America.
Organic growth, however, generally
remained strong, and in Peru the business
continued to perform well. An important
strategic event for the operations
in the region was the acquisition, in
October 2008, of Provinil, a Brazilian
manufacturing and sales business of
plastic pipe systems. This acquisition
provides the platform for the Group to
substantially extend its strategic reach in
the region.
Performance in Europe was more varied
although all activities experienced a
general weakening towards year-end. The
regions being hit first, and more severely
than the rest of Europe, were Spain and
the UK in particular, however, activity
levels in other significant economies such
as Germany, Italy and Eastern Europe were
also below expectations. The downturn,
which affected the performance of the
Building and Sanitary Products activities
during the first half of the year, continued
and gained in intensity in the second
half. To a lesser extent the operations in
the Infrastructure segment were also
impacted in the second half of the year,
while the performance of the Industrial
activities remained largely unaffected.
Early in 2008 the Group divested
Greenwood, a UK ventilation business
and realised a significant capital gain.
On the acquisition side, Dalpex Srl, an
Italian manufacturer of multilayer pipe
reinforced the Group’s product portfolio.
In Asia, Australasia and Africa results were
varied, being influenced by both regional
and local economic factors.
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In China, the end of the Olympic Games
coincided with a decrease of revenue,
while in Australia the level of activity was
subdued in the last quarter. Revenue in
New Zealand rose but margins remained
under pressure, and the same was true,
although to a lesser extent, for the South
African operations. In New Zealand, the
Group, following the acquisition of Dux
in 2007, acquired RX Plastics in April
2008. This is another important strategic
reinforcement of its position and product
portfolio in the region.
During 2008, particular focus has been
put on the rationalisation of operations
to increase efficiency and service levels,
and a number of projects, such as the
reorganisation of certain manufacturing
activities in the UK, New Zealand,
Germany and Hungary have already
been achieved. Other projects have been
prepared during the year and will be
carried out during 2009 and 2010.
Finally, faced with the economic recession
that started during the year and the
inevitable impact on the construction
industry in 2009, the Group has put
together an action plan, which includes
working capital and capital expenditure
management, the adaptation of
production rates and a reduction in
overheads. These actions are being
implemented rapidly in response to the
prevailing circumstances and will help to
preserve the Group’s competitive position
and will ensure its future potential.

Directors’ Report

Financial Review
The consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008
are reported in accordance with
International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). The change to reporting
under IFRS took place in the year ended
31 December 2006, and at the same
time the 2005 figures presented for
comparative purposes were restated
in accordance with IFRS 1. Financial
statements for earlier years were
prepared in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles in
Belgium (Belgian GAAP).

Changes in the scope of consolidation
accounted for an increase of 0.8%. The
fluctuation of foreign exchange rates
during the year had an overall negative
impact on revenue of 4.9%. The Group’s
major trading currencies were weaker,
principally the GBP (16%) and the New
Zealand dollar (12%). The gross profit
was € 643 million (2007: € 713 million),
representing 28.2% (2007: 29.6%) of
revenue. Commercial, administrative and
other charges amounted to € 455 million
(2007: € 421 million), representing 20.0%
(2007: 17.4%) of sales.

Changes in the Scope of Consolidation

Operating income for the year was
€ 188 million (2007: € 292 million),
representing 8.2% (2007: 12.2%) of
revenue, after charging €8 million (2007:
€ 9 million) of restructuring costs and
a provision of € 25.5 million (2007: nil)
for product liability claims in the US.
Goodwill impairment in 2008 was
recognised for € 9 million (2007: nil). The
overall decrease in operating income was
35.8%, and at constant exchange rates
and excluding the impact of changes
in the scope of the consolidation, the
decrease was 30.4%. Changes in the
scope of the consolidation accounted for
a decrease of 0.9% and exchange rate
movements had a negative impact of
4.5%. EBITDA reached € 274 million (2007:
€ 369 million), representing 12.0% (2007:
15.3%) of revenue.

The main changes in the scope of the
consolidation during 2008 were:
• The disposal of the Greenwood
business in February.
• The acquisition in April of a new
company, RX Plastics, in New Zealand.
• The acquisition in two stages during
the second semester of the Dalpex
group in Italy.
• The acquisition of Provinil in Brazil in
October.
These transactions are described
more fully in Note 6 (Acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries and minority
interests) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Income statement

Revenue from sales in 2008 was € 2,280
million (2007: € 2,405 million). The overall
decrease in revenue was 5.2%, and at
constant exchange rates, and excluding
the impact of changes in the scope of
the consolidation, the decrease was 1.1%.

Finance income and expense mainly
consisted of net interest expenses of
€ 33 million (2007: € 35 million), a net
gain of € 32 million on the sale of the
Greenwood business in the UK, exchange
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losses of € 23 million and bank charges of
€ 3 million. An analysis of finance income
and expense is given in Notes 10 (Finance
income) and 11 (Finance expense) to the
consolidated financial statements.
The Group operates a policy of managing
its interest rate exposure, and the major
part of its debt was covered throughout
the year by the use of fixed interest rate
swaps, appropriate caps, floors and similar
derivative instruments. The proportion
of the debt covered by such instruments
reduces in line with the debt maturity
dates. The balance of the Group’s debt
remained at variable interest rates. The
management of interest rate exposure is
more fully explained in Notes 5 (Financial
risk management) and 27 (Financial
instruments) to the consolidated financial
statements.
Income taxes, consisting of current and
deferred taxes, amounted to €37 million
(2007: € 73 million), representing an
effective income tax rate of 23.2%
(2007: 29.1%). The decrease of
€ 36 million in the tax expense in 2008
is mainly due to lower profit before taxes.
The reconciliation of the aggregated
weighted nominal tax rate (28.9%) with
the effective tax rate is set out in Note
12 (Income taxes) to the consolidated
financial statements.
The Group’s share in the results of equity
accounted investees, mainly corresponding to its 40% shareholding in Vinilit in
Chile, was € 2 million (2007: € 3 million).
The Group’s share of the profit for 2008
was € 124 million (2007: € 180 million).
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The Group’s basic earnings per share in
2008 were € 1.46 (2007: € 2.11), a decrease
of 31%. On a fully diluted basis, the
earnings per share were € 1.46 (2007:
€ 2.09).

Balance Sheet

Intangible assets, consisting of goodwill
and other intangible assets, amounted
to € 549 million at 31 December 2008
(2007: € 609 million). The major part of
the reduction was attributable to
currency translations of € 56 million,
an adjustment of goodwill for
€ 50 million on the businesses of Aliaxis
Latinoamerica Cooperatief UA, € 12 million
arising from the annual amortisation of
intangible assets (including € 9 million of
impairment of goodwill), partially offset
by the effect of changes in consolidation
scope (€ 52 million). Further details of
movements in intangible assets are set
out in Notes 6 (Acquisitions and disposals
of subsidiaries and minority interests) and
13 (Intangible assets) to the consolidated
financial statements.
Property, plant and equipment amounted
to € 598 million at 31 December 2008,
compared with € 607 million at the end of
the previous year. The net reduction of
€ 9 million was mainly attributable to
new capital expenditures of € 105 million,
less the depreciation charge of
€ 73 million, the elimination of assets
disposed of (€ 7 million) and the negative
impact of currency exchange movements
(€ 46 million). Changes in consolidation
scope added a net amount of € 13 million.

Vinilit (Chile) and investment properties
leased to third parties.
Deferred tax assets at 31 December 2008
were € 12 million (2007: € 13 million).
Further details of movements in
deferred tax assets are set out in Note 24
(Deferred tax assets and liabilities) to the
consolidated financial statements.
Non cash working capital amounted
to € 489 million at 31 December 2008
(31 December 2007: € 438 million), an
increase of € 51 million (12%) during the
year which was largely attributable to
an increase in inventory and a decrease
in amounts payable. At 31 December
2008, working capital represented 21.4%
(2007: 18.2%) of revenue, which represents
the lowest point in the annual cycle,
reflecting the seasonal nature of the
Group’s activities.
The equity attributable to equity holders
of the Group increased from € 1,002
million to € 1,032 million mainly as a result
of the Group’s share of net profit for the
year (€ 124 million), less the dividends
paid (€ 18 million), the negative impact of
exchange rate movements (€ 65 million)
and net movements in treasury shares
(€ 7 million).
€ million

Non current borrowings
Current borrowings
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank overdrafts
Total

Non current investments at 31 December
2008 of € 35 million (2007: € 31 million)
consisted mainly of the Group’s 40%
shareholding in an associated company,
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Minority interests at 31 December 2008
amounted to € 10 million (2007:
€ 11 million).
Provisions for employee benefits
decreased by € 9 million partly as a
result of lower pension expenses in
the UK.
The decrease in other non current
amounts payable is mainly due to the
decrease of € 50 million in the liability
recorded to reflect the right of put of the
minority member of Aliaxis Latinomerica
at 31 December 2008.
Net Financial Debt at 31 December 2008
increased by € 14 million. The major cash
flows during the year arose from cash
generated by the Group’s operations
(€ 210 million), the disposal of assets
(€ 54 million), less tax payments
(€ 70 million), investments made during
the year including acquisitions
(€ 201 million), net interest payments
made during the year (€ 29 million), net
dividends paid (€ 18 million) and the
purchase of treasury shares (€ 7 million).
The positive effect of exchange rate
fluctuations amount to € 47 million.
Net Financial Debt was as shown below:

31 Dec 2008

31 Dec 2007
473

508

89

53

(113)

(114)

38

26

487

473

The return on capital employed in 2008
reached 11.4% (2007: 19.1%) and the Group
share of return on equity was 12.2% (2007:
19.4%).
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Research and Development
In order to ensure that the Group is
able to meet the constantly changing
demands of the market sectors in which
it operates and to ensure its organic
growth, research and development
(“R&D”) is at the centre of Aliaxis’
activities. R&D’s influence extends from
the initial design and development, raw
material formulation and subsequent
improvements to further enhance
performance, right through to the
recycling of end-of-life waste material
back into new products.

moulding, Aliaxis R&D provides
technical and scientific assistance
to Aliaxis group companies in the
continuous process of improving
production and material efficiency.

conduct fundamental research
or provide additional expertise in
particular and relevant application
fields.

The R&D activities in the centres of
excellence are more market specific,
and (with the assistance of Aliaxis
R&D) focus on the development of
new products for individual markets or
applications to meet local requirements.

R&D consists of a corporate research
centre, Aliaxis R&D, based at Vernouillet
in France. The centre works closely
with a network of centres of excellence
located throughout the world in the
Group’s businesses. Today, more than 190
employees across the Group are directly
involved in research and development.

In 2008, there has been a focus on
further reinforcing the resources in
the centres of excellence through
investments in R&D equipment, the
recruitment of research specialists and
the introduction of new methodologies
designed to speed up the development
of innovative new products and hence
shorten the time to market.

Aliaxis R&D focuses on applied
research programs regarding matters
of strategic importance for the Group,
such as the characteristics of different
polymers, new formulations and formula
modifications as well as developments
in manufacturing processes. Thus, Aliaxis
R&D plays a crucial role in new product
development and testing and, thanks
to its investment in modern facilities
and highly skilled staff, is able to provide
technical and scientific assistance to the
Group’s operating businesses.

An example of one of the various
products introduced this year is
Excel-Plus®, a multilayer pipe unique by
virtue of its polymers which has been
developed in order to offer particular
solutions to water companies. This
product was developed by GPS Pipes
(UK) in collaboration with Aliaxis
R&D and Glynwed France and its
development required the construction
of a new testing facility dedicated to
study the long term performances of
this pipe in accelerated conditions.

Specifically in the core technologies
of plastic extrusion and injection

The Group maintains close contacts
with a number of universities which

t h e

Finally, in order to protect its
existing and new products against
counterfeiting, the Group has continued
its active policy of patent, design and
strategic trademark protection.
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Environment
Aliaxis is committed to the principle
of corporate social responsibility,
whereby commitment to environmental
management ranks alongside
commitment to economic and social
concerns in the interests of all major
stakeholders of the Group, including
the shareholders, employees, customers
and the communities in which the
Group’s companies operate. Respect for
the environment thus remains a major
focus for Aliaxis, and with increasing
regulation adherence to environmental
standards and best practice, its
management has become more and
more integrated into the Group’s
operations.
The Group’s approach to environmental
issues begins with design and a lifecycle approach to all products. This
considers the development of products
whose functions themselves contribute
to the protection of the environment as
well as the environmental performance
of the products themselves. The local
and corporate R&D play a key role in
this process, both in designing products
for new applications and in seeking to
improve existing products in the light of
newer, more environmentally beneficial
product formulations or to achieve
better technical, aesthetic or economic
characteristics.
In common with other industries from
the construction sector, the Group
is increasingly expected to provide
environmental information about
its products during their entire life
cycle to fit the market demand for

t h e

alia xis

g rou p

year

i n

sustainable construction. Therefore,
Aliaxis has decided to adopt the use of
Environmental Product Declarations
(“EPD”), drawn up in accordance with
international standards and based on a
Life Cycle Assessment.
The internal organisation set up in
order to be ready before the new
European regulation, on chemicals
(“Reach”) comes into force in 2008
has been successful. In every one of
the Group’s European companies,
the Reach coordinator in conjunction
with the Group’s environmental
management is ready to answer to their
customers’ questions relating to Reach
requirements.
At individual company level, Aliaxis has
for some time encouraged its businesses
to adopt ambitious targets to reduce
the impact on the environment of
their manufacturing and distribution
activities in line with the standards of
the countries in which they operate,
particularly in terms of energy and
water consumption and recovery and
recycling of waste material.
Certification in accordance with a
recognised standard is a benchmark
against which to measure the formal
management systems needed to achieve
these targets. Aliaxis encourages
its businesses to obtain ISO 14001
certification, or registration with the
equivalent environment management
program developed by the Vinyl Council
of Canada. At the end of 2008, 63%
of the Group’s production sites had
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received the appropriate certification.
The introduction of recycled material
in place of virgin resin has been shown
to improve the environmental profile
of products, and thus the recovery
and recycling of waste material is an
important area of focus for Aliaxis.
Internal recycling of plastic production
waste is one source of such material,
and in 2008 once again exceeded 98%
of waste generated.
Furthermore, group companies are
also involved in the re-processing of
end of life products. After successful
experiences with rigid PVC used as
core layer in co-extruded pipes, other
products are now using recycled PE
and PP.
End-of-life product management plays
an increasingly important role in the
industry and in Europe the Group
continues in collaboration with TEPPFA
to support the principle of shared
responsibility, for example through
the funding of the European Vinyl
Foundation set up to support the Vinyl
2010 Voluntary Commitment for the
collection of end-of-life products.
To put into practice a number of these
policies, a new factory for sanitary
products (SAS – France) will be built
in accordance with sustainability
principles. This plant will be “HQE
certified” i.e. High Environmental
Quality, one of the most stringent
sustainable construction standards in
the world.

Directors’ Report

Human Resources
2008 was very active as a result of the
launch of a number of new initiatives in
the human resources arena.
In terms of development activities, the
Group launched the Aliaxis Management
Development programme, which it
had been working on for some time.
This programme, which is targeted
at the Group’s senior managers from
around the world, is a 9 day programme
spread over 2 modules. Its aims are to
better enable the Group’s current and
future leaders to meet the challenges
which they face today and in the future;
to show the Group’s commitment
to investing in its senior leaders’
development; for participants to learn
and be able to apply more effective
management techniques; to stimulate
Group thinking and to reinforce the
feeling of belonging to the Aliaxis Group.
The first programme was run during
the third quarter and a number of other
programmes have followed. The initial
feedback has been extremely positive
in terms of both course content and
meeting the programme objectives. This
initiative will be followed through in
2009.
The year also saw the introduction
of a new set of human resource key
performance indicators. This has enabled
the Group to monitor the performance
of operating companies and divisions
more closely and accurately in a
number of key human resource areas
such as recruitment, health and safety,
training and development, absenteeism
and employee turnover. Having this

information available will also now
enable better benchmarking between
businesses and aid the pursuit of best
practice.

second half of the year has necessitated
the taking of measures to adjust the
workforce in line with the level of the
economic activity.

The area of internal communications
was not forgotten and in response to
employee feedback, and the changing
Group culture, the Group’s internal
magazine was redesigned and
relaunched as ‘Aliaxis Connect’. The
name being specially chosen to reflect
the fact the operating companies within
the Group need to be more connected.
The new magazine, which is in line with
the new Aliaxis corporate image, aims
to provide the Group’s employees with
more up to date information about
developments in the Group overall and
what the Group’s aims and objectives are
both in the short and the longer term.

Health and Safety always remains a top
priority; overall across the Group there
was a small increase in the frequency of
accidents when comparing 2008 against
2007, but a pleasing reduction in the
severity rate between the two years.

As part of the revisions to the Group’s
website a new careers website, was also
developed and launched towards the end
of the year. Aliaxiscareers.com provides
an opportunity for all Group companies
to publicise vacancies on the Group’s
website and will help further develop the
Aliaxis employer brand. With its highly
developed response handling features
it should also help reduce recruitment
administration time and speed up the
overall recruitment process.
Out of a total of 16,103 employees, 46%
were employed in Europe, 25% in Latin
America, 17% in North America with the
remainder being spread throughout
the rest of the world. The sudden drop
in demand that started during the

t h e
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Risks and Uncertainties
The risk profile of the companies
within the Aliaxis Group is similar
to that of other manufacturing and
distribution companies operating in an
international environment, and includes
macroeconomic and sector risks as
well as credit, liquidity and market risks
arising from exposure to currencies,
interest rates and commodity prices. The
Group is also exposed to more specific
risks of, for example, public, product and
employer’s liability, property damage
and business interruption and the risks

from administrative, fiscal and legal
proceedings.

either at individual company level or,
where appropriate, at Group level.

Developments in respect of
administrative, fiscal and legal
proceedings are described as appropriate
in Notes 25 (Provisions) and 30
(Contingencies) to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group’s approach to the
management of credit, liquidity and
market risks (including commodity,
interest rate and exchange rate
fluctuations) is set out in Note 5
(Financial risk management) to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group has adopted a range of
internal policies and procedures to
identify, reduce and manage these risks

Use of Derivative Financial Instruments
Risks relating to credit worthiness,
interest rate and exchange rate
movements, commodity prices and
liquidity arise in the Group’s normal
course of business. However, the most

significant financial exposures for
the Group relate to the fluctuation of
interest rates on the Group’s financial
debt and to fluctuations in currency
exchange rates.

Subsequent Events
In April 2009, the Group has reached
an agreement in principle to acquire
the 49% membership interest in Aliaxis
Latinoamerica Cooperatief UA from
the minority member, who will use the

t h e
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consideration to acquire 2,338,158 Aliaxis
treasury shares representing 2.56% of
the issued share capital.
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The Group’s approach to the
management of these risks is described
in Note 27 (Financial instruments) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Outlook for 2009
Trading conditions, which by the end of
2008 had become increasingly difficult in
several of the Group’s key geographical
markets, have spread and deteriorated
further during the first three months of
2009.
Forecasting with any degree of comfort
in these abnormal times is extremely
difficult. Consequently, the Group must
move forward and manage the business
by taking appropriate measures.
The Group has therefore assumed that
at least the first half of 2009 will remain
very challenging for all geographic

regions in which it has operations. Some
recovery may occur subsequently but
the timing, location and strength of the
recovery are uncertain.
In order to mitigate the impact of the
downturn on the business, the Group
continues to implement a range of
specific actions focused on working
capital and capital expenditure
management, adaptation of production
rates and reduction of all costs. The
ongoing implementation of these
actions should allow the Group to

manage the short term challenges that
our businesses all around the world
currently face.
In conclusion, the Group is confident
that these actions along with its strong
balance sheet, its broad geographical
reach, its committed people and
extensive product portfolio will
collectively ensure it emerges from the
global economic recession ready and
able to exploit opportunities for growth.

Management
Following the retirement of Mr. Alistair
Vearonelly, Director of the Division
Europe Building Products and the
departure of Mr. Doug McCollum,
Group Marketing Director,
a new Executive Committee and
a new divisional organisation has
been put in place in January 2009
consisting of :
• Mr. Yves Noiret (CEO)
• Mr. Yves Mertens (CFO)
• Mr. Hubert Dubout (Company
Secretary)
• Mr. Francis Durman Esquivel (Division
Director Latin America)

• Mr. Paul Graddon (Division Director
North America)
• Mr. Colin Leach (Division Director
Asia - Australia - Africa)
• Mr. Corrado Mazzacano (Division
Director Europe Utilities and Industry)
• Mr. Giorgio Valle (Division Director
Europe Building Products and
Sanitary)
Mr. Yves Noiret has announced his
decision to retire from his position of
CEO “Administrateur-délégué”. As a
consequence, it will be proposed to the
Board of Directors, which will

t h e

follow the Annual General Meeting
of May 27, 2009, to designate Mr. Yves
Mertens, presently CFO of Aliaxis, as
(“Administrateur-délégué”), CEO of the
Group.
In parallel, Mr. Colin Leach, presently
Division Director of Asia – Australia
– Africa, will be appointed Chief
Operating Officer (COO), reporting to
Mr. Yves Mertens.
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Board Composition
The mandates of Mrs. Andréa Hatschek,
Messrs. Kieran Murphy, Yves Noiret, JeanLouis Piérard, Olivier van der Rest, Henri
Thijssen, Philippe Voortman and A.S.B.
Invest SRL (represented by Mr. Philippe
Leemans) will expire at the next Annual
General Meeting of May 27, 2009. They
are candidate for reelection for a term
of office of three years ended at the
General Meeting of 2012.
The mandates of Messrs. Alain Siaens
and Bernard Steyaert will also expire
at the next Annual General Meeting of
May 27, 2009. They are not candidates
for reelection. The Board would like to
thank Messrs. Alain Siaens and Bernard
Steyaert for their efficient contribution
during their mandates.

Upon the advice of the Selection
Committee, it will be proposed to the
shareholders to elect Messrs. Francis
Durman Esquivel, Bruno Emsens, Frank
H. Lakerveld and Yves Mertens as
directors of Aliaxis S.A. for a term of
office of three years ending at the
General Meeting of 2012.
Mr. Francis Durman Esquivel, who
has developed the Durman Group
throughout the Latin American
continent and now part of Aliaxis, will
bring to the Board his vast geographical
and market experience.

Mr. Bruno Emsens is active in the
development of corporate governance in
family firms. His expertise will certainly
be a valuable asset for the Board.
Mr. Frank H. Lakerveld is Chief Operating
Officer of a large international group
specialized in the distribution of
electrical products and systems for the
building and industrial sectors. The
Board will undoubtedly benefit from his
managerial competencies.
Mr. Yves Mertens, presently Aliaxis Group
CFO, will be proposed for the position of
Group Managing Director.

Auditor
The mandate of KPMG Réviseurs
d’Entreprises as auditor of the nonconsolidated and the consolidated
accounts of the company will expire at
the next Annual General Meeting on
May 27, 2009.

t h e
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It will be proposed to the shareholders to
reappoint KPMG Réviseurs d’Entreprises
for a term of three years as auditor of
the non-consolidated and consolidated
accounts of the company.
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Consolidated income statement
(€ '000s)
2008

2007

Revenue

Continuing operations

Notes

2,280,294

2,404,655

Cost of sales

(1,637,113)

(1,691,969)

643,181

712,686

Commercial expenses

(222,690)

(220,751)

Administrative expenses

(160,901)

(167,080)

(19,623)

(21,556)

Gross profit

R&D expenses
7

Other operating income / (expenses)
Profit from operations before non-recurring items

8

Non-recurring items
Operating income

(10,813)
292,486

(38,268)

-

187,935

292,486

Finance income

10

40,554

6,873

Finance expense

11

(67,050)

(47,942)

161,439

251,417

Profit before income taxes
Share in the result of equity accounted investees

16

2,098

3,362

Income taxes

12

(37,435)

(73,090)

Profit of the year

126,102

181,690

Attributable to:
Minority interests
Equity holders of the Group

1,797

2,008

124,305

179,681

21

1.46

2.11

21

1.46

2.09

Earnings per share (in €):
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

t h e

(13,764)
226,203
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Consolidated balance sheet
(€ '000s)
As at 31 December

Notes

Non current assets
Intangible assets

2008

2007

1,212,072

1,280,076

6, 13

548,584

608,563

Property, plant & equipment

14

597,848

607,320

Investment properties

15

17,844

10,083

Equity accounted investees

16

Other non current assets
Deferred tax assets

24

Current assets

17,419

20,527

18,680

20,708

11,697

12,875

945,518

913,071

17

431,790

412,023

18, 27

400,301

386,428

19

113,427

114,365

-

255

TOTAL ASSETS

2,157,590

2,193,147

Equity attributable to equity holders of Aliaxis

1,031,801

1,001,660

62,656

62,648

Inventories
Amounts receivable
Cash & cash equivalents
Assets held for sale

Share capital

20

Share premium

20

13,218

13,138

Retained earnings and reserves

20

955,927

925,874

9,929

11,161

1,041,730

1,012,821

645,165

737,999

Minority interest
Total equity
Non current liabilities
22, 27

472,457

508,154

Employee benefits

23b

54,600

63,891

Deferred tax liabilities

24

43,829

47,562

Interest bearing loans and borrowings

Provisions

25

9,311

9,130

Other amounts payable

26

64,966

109,262

470,696

442,327

22, 27

89,448

53,139

19

38,163

25,831

Current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Bank overdrafts
Provisions

25

14,076

13,638

329,009

349,719

Total liabilities

1,115,860

1,180,326

TOTAL EQUITY & LIABILITIES

2,157,590

2,193,147

Amounts payable

26, 27

t h e
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF ALIAXIS
Notes

(€ ‘000s)

As at 1 January 2007

Share
capital

62,625

Share
premium

12,889

Result of the year

Retained
earnings

Hedging
reserve

Reserve
for own
shares

845,010

614

(29,905)

Translation
reserve

(44,612)

179,681

Result recognised directly in equity :
- Foreign currency translation differences
- Cash flow hedges

20

Share options exercised

23c

(10,057)

27

Share-based payments

23c

Own shares acquired

20

Dividends to shareholders

20

379
23

MINORITY
INTEREST

TOTAL
EQUITY

Retained
earnings
and
reserves
771,107

11,126

857,746

179,681

2,009

181,690

(10,057)

(403)

(10,460)

379

379

1,878

1,878

(954)

(954)

272

249
1,878
(954)

(16,154)

(16,154)

(1,571)

(17,725)

Acquisition of minority interest
Other
As at 31 December 2007

62,648

13,138

Result of the year

261

(266)

1,010,677

727

(5)
(30,860)

(54,670)

124,305

Result recognised directly in equity :
- Foreign currency translation differences
- Cash flow hedges

20

Share options exercised

23c

(65,429)

27

925,875

11,161

1,012,821

124,305

1,797

126,102

(65,429)

725

(64,703)

(6,876)

(6,876)
8

88

Share-based payments

23c

2,546

20

2,780

Dividends to shareholders

20

(17,854)

(9,419)

2,546

2,546

(6,639)

(6,639)

(17,854)

Acquisition of minority interest

t h e
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(6,876)

80

Own shares acquired

As at 31 December 2008

(5)

13,218

1,122,454

(6,149)

(40,279)

(120,099)

955,927

(1,666)

(19,521)

(2,088)

(2,088)

9,929

1,041,730
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Consolidated cash flow statement
Notes
(€ ‘000s)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before income tax
14, 15
Depreciation
13
Impairment losses on goodwill
13, 14
Amortisation and impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets
Other impaiment losses
23c
Equity-settled share-based payments
10, 11
Financial instruments - fair value adjustment through income statement
10, 11
Net interest (income) / expense
10
Dividend income
7
Loss / (gain) on sale of intangible fixed assets
7
Loss / (gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment
7
Loss / (gain) on sale of assets held-for-sale
6, 10
Loss / (gain) on sale of businesses
Other - miscellaneous
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital and provisions

2008

2007

161,439
72,428
9,062
4,751
2,021
2,546
(4,187)
33,630
(280)
(3)
(1,559)
(137)
(32,553)
11,340
258,499

251,417
72,240
2,966
1,941
1,878
(631)
34,954
(226)
(6,447)
(38)
2,313
575
360,943

Decrease / (increase) in inventories
Decrease / (increase) in amounts receivable
Increase / (decrease) in amounts payable
Increase / (decrease) in provisions
Cash flow generated from operations

(37,873)
20,500
(27,333)
(4,090)
209,703

(3,709)
(8,270)
(7,739)
(14,365)
326,859

Income tax paid
Cash flow from operating activities

(70,072)
139,631

(82,707)
244,152

6,706
15
398
6,524
141
40,676
(87,025)
(98,262)
(3,942)
(9,378)
(2,323)
(177)
1,454
2,853
(142,339)

11,684
77
9,448
114
264
6,189
(163,287)
(97,611)
(3,741)
(1)
(1,006)
(4,184)
1,981
5,570
(234,504)

88
(6,639)
547
(19,261)
(32,242)
(57,508)

272
(954)
(23,963)
(18,281)
(40,288)
113,321
(3)
30,104

(60,216)

39,752

88,534
46,947
75,264

48,156
626
88,534

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of intangible fixed assets
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets held-for-sale
Proceeds from sale of investments
Repayment of loans granted
Sale of businesses, net of cash disposed of
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets
Acquisition of investment property
Acquisition of other investments
Loans granted
Dividends received
Interest received
Cash flow from investing activities

6
6
14
13
15

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from the issue of share capital
(Purchase) / sale of treasury shares
Proceeds from / (repayment of) borrowings
Dividends paid
Interest paid
Proceeds from disposal of a minority interest
Other
Cash flow from financing activities

20
20

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
19

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

19

t h e
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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1. Corporate information

(b) Basis of measurement

Aliaxis S.A. (“the Company”) is a company
domiciled in Belgium. The address of the
Company’s registered office is Avenue
de Tervueren, 270, B-1150 Brussels. The
consolidated financial statements of
the Company as at and for the year
ended 31 December 2008 comprise the
Company, its subsidiaries and interest
in equity accounted investees (together
referred to as the “Group” or “Aliaxis”).

The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on the historical cost
basis, except for the following:
• derivative financial instruments are
measured at fair value;
• available-for-sale financial assets are
measured at fair value;
• financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss are measured
at fair value.
• share-based payments.

Aliaxis employed around 16,100 people,
is present in 50 countries throughout the
world, and is represented in the marketplace through more than 100 manufacturing and selling companies, many
of which trade using their individual
brand identities. The Group is primarily
engaged in the manufacture and sale of
plastic pipe systems and related building
and sanitary products which are used in
residential and commercial construction
and renovation as well as in a wide range
of industrial and public utility applications.
The financial statements have been
authorised for issue by the Company’s
Board of Directors on 23 April 2009.

2. Basis of preparation
(a) Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the
related interpretations issued by the
International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB), the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee
(IFRIC) and the Standard Interpretations
Committee (SIC), effective and adopted
by the European Union as at the
reporting date.
Aliaxis was not obliged to apply any
European carve-outs from IFRS, meaning
that the financial statements are fully
compliant with IFRS. The Company has
not elected for early application of any of
the standards or interpretations which
were not yet effective on the reporting
date.

(c) Functional and presentation
currency
These consolidated financial statements
are presented in Euro, which is the
Company’s functional currency. All
financial information presented in
Euro has been rounded to the nearest
thousand.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements
requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised and in any future
periods affected.
In particular, information about
significant areas of estimation,
uncertainty and critical judgements
in applying accounting policies that
have the most significant effect on the
amount recognised in the financial
statements, are described in the
following Notes:
• Note 6 – business combinations;
• Note 13 – measurement of the
recoverable amounts of cashgenerating units;
• Note 23(b) – measurement of defined
benefit obligations;
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• Note 23(c) – measurement of sharebased payments;
• Note 24 – utilisation of tax losses;
• Notes 25 and 30 – provisions and
contingencies;
• Note 26(a) – right of put by minority;
• Note 27 – valuation of derivative
financial instruments.

3. Significant accounting
policies
The accounting policies set out below
have been applied consistently to all
periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements. IFRIC 14 IAS 19
- The limit on a defined benefit asset,
minimum funding requirements and
their interaction was adopted as of 1
January 2008.
These policies have been applied
consistently by all of the reporting
entities Aliaxis has defined in its
reporting and consolidation process.
Aliaxis has chosen 31 December as
the reporting date. The consolidated
financial statements are presented
before the effect of the profit
appropriation of the Company proposed
to the annual shareholders’ meeting,
and dividends therefore are recognised
as a liability in the period they are
declared.

(a) Basis of consolidation
A list of the most important subsidiaries
and equity accounted investees is
presented in Note 32.
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by
the Group. Control exists when Aliaxis
has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so
as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In assessing control, potential voting
rights that presently are exercisable are
taken into account. Control is presumed
to exist when Aliaxis holds, directly
or indirectly through subsidiaries,
more than half of the voting power
of an entity. The financial statements
of subsidiaries are included in the
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consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases.
Associates and joint ventures
(equity accounted investees)
Associates are those entities in which
the Group has significant influence,
but not control, over the financial and
operating policies. Significant influence
is presumed to exist when Aliaxis
holds, directly or indirectly through
subsidiaries, 20% or more of the voting
power of an entity. Joint ventures are
those entities over whose activities the
Group has joint control, established by
contractual agreement and requiring
unanimous consent for strategic,
financial and operating decisions.
Associates and joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method
(equity accounted investees). The
consolidated financial statements
include the Group’s share of the income
and expenses and the share in equity
of equity accounted investees, after
adjustments to align the accounting
policies with those of the Group, from
the date that significant influence
or joint control commences until the
date that significant influence or joint
control ceases. When the Group’s share
of losses exceeds its interest in an
equity accounted investee, the carrying
amount of that interest (including any
long-term investments) is reduced to nil
and the recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that
Aliaxis has an obligation or has made
payments on behalf of the investee.
Minority interests
Minority interests in the net assets
(excluding goodwill) of consolidated
subsidiaries are identified separately
from the Group’s equity therein.
Minority interests consist of the
amount of those interests at the date
of the original business combination
(see Note 4) and the minority’s share
of changes in equity since the date of
the combination. Losses applicable to
the minority in excess of the minority’s
interest in the subsidiary’s equity are
allocated against the interests of the
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Group except to the extent that the
minority has a binding obligation and
is able to make an additional investment
to cover the losses.
Transactions eliminated on
consolidation
Intra-group balances, and any unrealised
income and expenses arising from
intra-group transactions, are eliminated
in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised gains arising
from transactions with equity accounted
investees are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the investee. Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

(b) Foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated to the respective functional
currency of Aliaxis entities at exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at
the reporting date are retranslated to
the functional currency at the exchange
rate at that date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are carried at historical
cost are translated at the reporting
date at exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value
are translated at the reporting date at
the exchange rate at the date the fair
value was determined. Foreign currency
differences arising on retranslation are
recognised in the income statement,
except for differences arising on the
retranslation of available-for-sale
equity instruments or a financial liability
designated as a hedge of the net
investment in a foreign operation
(see below), which are recognised
directly in equity under translation
reserve.
Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign
operations, including goodwill and
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fair value adjustments arising on
acquisition, are translated to Euro at
exchange rates at the reporting date.
The income and expenses of foreign
operations are translated to Euro at
average exchange rates for the year
approximating the foreign exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.
The components of shareholders’ equity
are translated at historical exchange
rates.
Foreign currency differences are
recognised directly in equity under
translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is disposed of (in part or
in full), the relevant differences are
transferred to the income statement as
an adjustment to the profit or loss on
disposal.

Hedge of net investment in a foreign
operation
Foreign currency differences arising
on the retranslation of a financial
liability designated as a hedge of a
net investment in a foreign operation
are recognised directly in equity under
translation reserve, to the extent that
the hedge is effective. To the extent that
the hedge is ineffective, such differences
are recognised in the income statement.
When the hedged net investment
is disposed of, in part or in full, the
relevant cumulative amount in equity
is transferred to the income statement
as an adjustment to the profit or loss on
disposal.
In addition, monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation
for which settlement is neither planned
nor likely to occur in the foreseeable
future are a part of the Group’s net
investment in such foreign operation.
Any foreign currency differences on
these items are recognised directly in
equity under translation reserve, and the
relevant cumulative amount in equity
is transferred to the income statement
when the investment is disposed of, in
part or in full.
Exchange rates
The following major exchange rates
have been used in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.
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Average

Capitalised development expenditure
is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation (see below) and
accumulated impairment losses (see
Note 3(k)).

Reporting date

2008

2007

2008

2007

AUD

1.744

1.635

2.027

1.676

CAD

1.561

1.468

1.700

1.445

GBP

0.797

0.685

0.953

0.733

NZD

2.079

1.863

2.419

1.902

USD

1.471

1.371

1.392

1.472

(c) Intangible assets
Goodwill
All business combinations are accounted
for by applying the purchase method.
Goodwill (or negative goodwill) arises on
the acquisition of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures.

In respect of equity accounted investees,
the carrying amount of goodwill is
included in the carrying amount of the
investment.
Goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses (see
Note 3(k)).

As part of its transition to IFRS, the Group
elected not to restate those business
combinations that occurred prior to
1 January 2005; goodwill represented
the amount, net of accumulated
amortisation, recognised under the
Group’s previous accounting framework,
Belgian GAAP.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination
Intangible assets such as customers’
relationships, trademarks, patents
acquired in a business combination
initially are recognised at fair value. If the
criteria for separate recognition are not
met, they are subsumed under goodwill.

For acquisitions on or after 1 January
2005, goodwill represents the excess
of the cost of the acquisition over the
Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the acquiree.
When the excess is negative (negative
goodwill), it is recognised immediately
in the income statement.

Research and development
Expenditure on research activities
undertaken with the prospect of gaining
new scientific or technical knowledge
and understanding is recognised in the
income statement as an expense when
incurred.

The carrying amount of goodwill is
allocated to those reporting entities
that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the business combination
and those are considered as the Group’s
cash-generating units.
Goodwill is expressed in the functional
currency of the reporting entity to which it
is allocated and is translated to Euro using
the exchange rate at the reporting date.
Goodwill arising on the acquisition
of a minority interest in a subsidiary
represents the excess of the cost of the
additional investment over the carrying
amount of the net assets acquired at the
date of exchange.

Development activities involve a plan
or design for the production of new or
substantially improved products and
processes. Development expenditure is
capitalised only if development costs
can be measured reliably, the product or
process is technically and commercially
feasible, future economic benefits are
probable, and Aliaxis intends to and
has sufficient resources to complete
development and to use or sell the asset.
The expenditure capitalised includes
the cost of materials, direct labour
and overhead costs that are directly
attributable to preparing the asset for its
intended use. If the recognition criteria
referred to above are not met,
the expenditure is recognised in the
income statement as an expense when
incurred.

t h e

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets that are
acquired by Aliaxis which have finite
useful lives are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation (see below)
and accumulated impairment losses (see
Note 3(k)).
Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised
only when it increases the future
economic benefits embodied in the
specific asset to which it relates. All
other expenditure, including expenditure
on internally generated goodwill and
brands, is recognised in the income
statement as an expense when incurred.
Amortisation
Amortisation is recognised in the income
statement on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of intangible
assets with a finite life, from the date
that they are available for use. The
estimated useful lives are as follows:
• Patents, concessions and
licenses
5 years
• Customer lists
3 years
• Capitalised development
costs
3-5 years
• IT software
5 years

(d) Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment
are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation (see below) and impairment
losses (see Note 3(k)). Aliaxis elected to
measure certain items of property, plant
and equipment at 1 January 2005, the
date of transition to IFRS, at fair value
and used those fair values as deemed
cost at that date.
Cost includes expenditures that are
directly attributable to the acquisition
of the asset; e.g. costs incurred to bring
the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use, any relevant
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costs of dismantling and removing the
asset and restoring the site on which the
asset was located. Purchased software
that is integral to the functionality of
the related equipment is capitalised as
part of that equipment. Borrowing costs
incurred for the purpose of acquiring,
constructing or producing qualifying
assets are recognised in the income
statement as incurred.
Gains and losses on disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are
determined by comparing the proceeds
from disposal with the carrying amount
of property, plant and equipment and
are recognised net within other income/
expenses in the income statement.
When parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful
lives, they are accounted for as separate
items (major components) of property,
plant and equipment.
Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing part of an item
of property, plant and equipment is
recognised in the carrying amount of
the item if it is probable that the future
economic benefits embodied within
such part will flow to the Group and
its cost can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. The costs of the day-today servicing of property, plant and
equipment are recognised in the income
statement as incurred.
Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in the
income statement on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives
of each part of an item of property,
plant and equipment. Leased assets are
depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives, unless there
is certainty that the Group will take
ownership at the end of the lease term.
Land is not depreciated.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:
• Buildings:
- Structure
40-50 years
- Roof and cladding
15-40 years
- Installations
15-20 years
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• Plant, machinery and equipment:
- Silos
20 years
- Machinery and surroundin
equipment
10 years
- Moulds
3-5 years
• Furniture
10 years
• Office machinery
3-5 years
• Vehicles
5 years
• IT & IS
3-5 years
Depreciation methods and useful lives,
together with residual values if not
insignificant, are reassessed at each
reporting date.

(e) Leased assets
Leases under the terms of which Aliaxis
assumes substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Upon initial recognition
the leased asset, as well as the lease
liability, is measured at an amount
equal to the lower of its fair value and
the present value of the minimum
lease payments. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the asset is accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to that asset.
Other leases are operating leases and the
leased assets are not recognised on the
Group’s balance sheet (see Note 3(u)).

(f) Investment properties
Investment property is property
held either to earn rental income or
for capital appreciation or for both.
Investment property is measured at
cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see Note 3(k)).
Depreciation is recognised in the income
statement on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful life of the property
consistent with the useful lives for
property, plant and equipment (see Note
3(d)).
The fair values, which are determined for
disclosure purposes, are based on market
values, being the estimated amount for
which a property could be exchanged
on the date of the valuation between a
willing buyer and a willing seller in an
arm’s length transaction after proper
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marketing wherein the parties had each
acted knowledgeably, prudently and
without compulsion. In the absence of
current prices in an active market, the
valuations are prepared by considering
the aggregate of the estimated cash
flows expected to be received from
renting out the property. A yield that
reflects the specific risks inherent in the
net cash flows then is applied to the
net annual cash flows to arrive at the
property valuation.

(g) Other non current assets
Investments in equity securities
Investments in equity securities are
undertakings in which Aliaxis does not
have significant influence or control.
These investments are designated as
available-for-sale financial assets which
are, subsequent to initial recognition,
measured at fair value, except for those
equity instruments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market
and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured. Those equity instruments
that are excluded from fair valuation
are stated at cost. Changes in the fair
value, other than impairment losses
(see Note 3(k)), are recognised directly
in equity. When an investment is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised directly in equity is
transferred to the income statement.
Investments in debt securities
Investments in debt securities are
classified at fair value through profit or
loss or as being available-for-sale and are
carried at fair value with any resulting
gain or loss respectively recognised in
the income statement or directly in
equity. Impairment losses (see Note 3(k))
and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in the income statement.
Other financial assets
A financial asset is classified at fair value
through profit or loss if it is held for
trading or is designated as such upon
initial recognition. Financial assets are
designated at fair value through profit or
loss if Aliaxis manages such investments
and makes purchase and sale decisions
based on their fair value. Upon initial
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recognition, attributable transaction
costs are recognised in the income
statement when incurred. Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss
are measured at fair value, and changes
therein are recognised in the income
statement.
Other non-current assets
These assets are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate
method, less any impairment losses.

(h) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. The cost
of inventories is based on the weighted
average principle for raw materials,
packaging materials, consumables,
purchased components and goods
purchased for resale, and on the
first-in first-out principle for finished
goods, work in progress and produced
components.
The cost includes expenditure incurred
in acquiring the inventories and bringing
them to their existing location and
condition. In the case of manufactured
inventories and work in progress, cost
also includes an appropriate share of
production overheads based on normal
operating capacity.
Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses.

(i) Amounts receivable
Amounts receivable which comprise
trade and other receivables represent
amounts owing for goods supplied
by the Group prior to the end of the
reporting date which remain unpaid.
These amounts are carried at amortised
cost, less impairment losses (see Note
3(k)).

( j) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash balances and call deposits with a
maturity of three months or less. Bank

overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the cash flow
statement.

(k) Impairment
Financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each
reporting date to determine whether
there is any objective evidence that it is
impaired. A financial asset is considered
to be impaired if objective evidence
indicates that one or more events have
had a negative effect on the estimated
future cash flows of that asset.
An impairment loss in respect of a
financial asset measured at amortised
cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate. An impairment
loss in respect of an available-for-sale
financial asset is calculated by reference
to its current fair value.
Individually significant financial
assets are tested for impairment on
an individual basis; the remaining
financial assets are assessed collectively
in groups that share similar credit risk
characteristics.
All impairment losses are recognised in
the income statement. Any cumulative
loss of an available-for-sale financial
asset recognised previously in equity is
transferred to the income statement.
An impairment loss is reversed if the
reversal can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised and such reversal is
recognised in the income statement. For
financial assets measured at amortised
cost and available-for-sale financial
assets that are debt securities, the
reversal is recognised in the income
statement. For available-for-sale financial
assets that are equity securities, the
reversal is recognised directly in equity.
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Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s
non-financial assets, other than
inventories (see Note 3(h)) and deferred
tax assets (see Note 3(v)), are reviewed
at each reporting date to determine
whether there is any external or internal
indication of impairment. If any such
indication exists then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. For
goodwill and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives or that are not yet
available for use, the recoverable amount
is estimated at each reporting date.
An impairment loss is recognised if
the carrying amount of an asset or its
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) exceeds
its recoverable amount. A CGU is the
smallest identifiable asset group that
generates cash flows that largely are
independent from other assets and
groups. Impairment losses are recognised
in the income statement. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of CGUs are
allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the
units and then to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis.
The recoverable amount of an asset or
CGU is the greater of its value in use
and its fair value less costs to sell. In
assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using an appropriate pretax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.
The goodwill acquired in a business
combination, for the purpose of
impairment testing, is allocated to
CGUs that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination.
The Group’s overall approach as to the
level for testing goodwill impairment
is at the reporting entity level. The
recoverable amount of the CGUs to
which the goodwill belongs is based on
a discounted free cash flow approach,
based on acquisition valuation models.
These calculations are corroborated by
valuation multiples or other available fair
value indicators.
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An impairment loss in respect of
goodwill is not reversed. In respect
of other assets, impairment losses
recognised in prior periods are
assessed at each reporting date for any
indications that the loss has decreased
or no longer exists. An impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is reversed only to the extent that the
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

(l) Discontinued operations and
non-current assets held for sale
Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a
component of the Group’s business
that represents a separate major line
of business or geographical area of
operations that has been disposed of
or is held for sale, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to
resale. Classification as a discontinued
operation occurs upon disposal or when
the operation meets the criteria to
be classified as held for sale, if earlier.
When an operation is classified as a
discontinued operation, the comparative
income statement is re-presented as if
the operation had been discontinued
from the start of the comparative
period.
Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups
comprising assets and liabilities)
that are expected to be recovered
primarily through sale rather than
through continuing use are classified
as held for sale. Immediately before
classification as held for sale, the assets
(or components of a disposal group)
are remeasured in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter,
the assets (or disposal group) are
generally measured at the lower of
their carrying amount and fair value
less cost to sell. Any impairment loss
on a disposal group is first allocated to
goodwill, and then to remaining assets
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and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except
that no loss is allocated to inventories,
financial assets, deferred tax assets and
employee benefit assets, which continue
to be measured in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies. Impairment
losses on initial classification as held
for sale and subsequent gains or losses
on remeasurement are recognised in
the income statement. Gains are not
recognised in excess of any cumulative
impairment loss.

(m) Share capital
Ordinary shares
Incremental costs directly attributable
to the issue of ordinary shares and share
options are recognised as a deduction
from equity.
Repurchase of share capital
When share capital recognised as equity
is repurchased, the amount of the
consideration paid, including directly
attributable costs, net of any tax effects,
is recognised as a deduction from equity.
Repurchased shares are classified as
treasury shares and are presented as a
deduction from total equity within the
reserve for own shares. When treasury
shares are sold or reissued subsequently,
the amount received is recognised as
an increase in equity, and the resulting
surplus or deficit on the transaction is
transferred to/from retained earnings.
Dividends
Dividends are recognised as liabilities
in the period in which they are declared.

(n) Interest bearing loans and
borrowings
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are recognised initially at fair value
less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the initial amount
and the maturity amount being
recognised in the income statement
over the expected life of the
instrument on an effective interest
rate basis.
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(o) Employee benefits
Post employment benefits
Post employment benefits include
pensions, post employment life
insurance and medical care benefits.
The Group operates a number of defined
benefit and defined contribution plans
throughout the world, the assets of
which are generally held in separate
trustee-administered funds. The pension
plans are generally funded by payments
from employees and the company.
Aliaxis maintains funded and unfunded
pension plans.
Defined contribution plans
Obligations for contributions to
defined contribution pension plans are
recognised as an expense in the income
statement when they are due.
Defined benefit plans
The Group’s net obligation in respect
of defined benefit pension plans is
calculated separately for each plan by
estimating the amount of future benefit
that employees have earned in return
for their service in the current and prior
periods; that benefit is discounted to
determine its present value, and any
unrecognised past service costs and
the fair value of any plan assets are
deducted. The discount rate is the yield
at the reporting date on AA creditrated bonds that have maturity dates
approximating the terms of the Group’s
obligations and that are denominated in
the same currency in which the benefits
are expected to be paid.
The calculation is performed with
sufficient regularity by qualified
actuaries using the projected unit credit
method.
When the benefits of a plan are
improved, the portion of the increased
benefit relating to past service by
employees is recognised in the income
statement on a straight-line basis over
the average period until the benefits
become vested. To the extent that the
benefits vest immediately, the expense
is recognised immediately in the income
statement.
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In respect of actuarial gains and losses
that have arisen subsequent to 1 January
2005 (date of transition to IFRS when
all actuarial gains and losses were
recognised) in calculating the Group’s
obligation in respect of a plan, to the
extent that any cumulative unrecognised
actuarial gain or loss exceeds 10% of
the greater of the present value of the
defined benefit obligation and the fair
value of plan assets, that portion is
recognised in the income statement over
the expected average remaining working
lives of the employees participating in
the plan. Otherwise, the actuarial gain or
loss is not recognised.
When the calculation results in a benefit
to Aliaxis, the recognised asset is limited
to the net total of any unrecognised net
actuarial losses and past service costs
and the present value of any future
refunds from the plan or reductions in
future contributions to the plan.
Other long-term employee benefits
The Group’s net obligation in respect
of long-term employee benefits other
than pension plans such as service
anniversary bonuses is the amount of
future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their service in the
current and prior periods. The obligation
is calculated using the projected unit
credit method and is discounted to
determine its present value, and the fair
value of any related assets is deducted.
The discount rate is the yield at the
reporting date on AA credit-rated bonds
that have maturity dates approximating
the terms of the Group’s obligations
and that are denominated in the same
currency in which the benefits are
expected to be paid. Any actuarial gains
or losses are recognised in the income
statement in the period in which
they arise.
Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as
an expense when Aliaxis is demonstrably
committed, without realistic possibility
of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan
to terminate employment before the
normal retirement date. Termination
benefits for voluntary redundancies are

recognised if Aliaxis has made an offer
encouraging voluntary redundancy, it is
probable that the offer will be accepted,
and the number of acceptances can be
estimated reliably.
Short-term benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations
such as bonuses are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are expensed
as the related service is provided. A
provision is recognised for the amount
expected to be paid under short-term
cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if
Aliaxis has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result
of past service provided by the employee
and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.
Share-based payment transactions
The fair value of options granted
to employees is measured at grant
date. The amount is recognised as an
employee expense, with a corresponding
increase in equity within retained
earnings, and spread over the period
in which the employees become
unconditionally entitled to the options.
The amount recognised as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the actual number of
share options that vest.
The fair value of options granted to
employees is measured using the
Black & Scholes valuation model.
Measurement inputs include share price
on measurement date, exercise price
of the instrument, expected volatility
(based on historic volatility adjusted
for changes expected due to publicly
available information), weighted average
expected life of the instruments (based
on historical experience and general
option holder behaviour), expected
dividends, and the risk-free interest rate
(based on government bonds). Service
and non-market performance conditions
attached to the transactions are not
taken into account in determining fair
value.

or constructive obligation as a result
of past events that can be estimated
reliably, and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation. The
amount recognised as a provision is
the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation, and
is reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate. Provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash
flows at an appropriate pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the
liability. In addition, incremental costs
(e.g. lawyer and expert fees) are included
in the measurement of the provisions.
Warranties
A provision for warranties is recognised
when the underlying products or services
are sold. The provision is based on
historical warranty data and a weighting
of all possible outcomes against their
associated probabilities.
Restructuring
A provision for restructuring is
recognised when Aliaxis has approved
a detailed and formal restructuring
plan, and the restructuring either has
commenced or has been announced
publicly. Future operating costs are not
provided for.
Onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contracts is
recognised when the expected benefits
to be derived by the Group from a
contract are lower than the unavoidable
cost of meeting its obligations under
the contract. The provision is measured
as the present value of the lower of the
expected cost of terminating the contract
and the expected net cost of continuing
with the contract. Before a provision is
established, the Group recognises any
impairment loss on the assets associated
with the contract.

(p) Provisions

(q) Amounts payable

A provision is recognised if, as a result of
a past event, Aliaxis has a present legal

Amounts payable which comprise trade
and other amounts payable represent
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goods and services provided to the
Group prior to the end of the reporting
date which are unpaid. These amounts
are carried at amortised cost.

(r) Derivative financial instruments
Aliaxis holds derivative financial
instruments to hedge its exposure to
foreign currency and interest rate risks
arising from operational, financing and
investment activities. The net exposure
of all subsidiaries is managed on a
centralised basis. As a policy, Aliaxis does
not engage in speculative transactions
and does not therefore hold or issue
derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. However, derivatives
that do not qualify for hedge
accounting are accounted for as trading
instruments.
Embedded derivatives are separated
from the host contract and accounted
for separately if the economic
characteristics and risks of the host
contract and the embedded derivative
are not closely related, a separate
instrument with the same terms as
the embedded derivative would meet
the definition of a derivative, and the
combined instrument is not measured
at fair value through profit
or loss.
Derivatives are recognised initially at
fair value; attributable transaction costs
are recognised in the income statement
when incurred. Subsequent to initial
recognition, derivatives are measured
at fair value, and changes therein are
accounted for as described below.

t h e

exercised, then hedge accounting is
discontinued prospectively.
The cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity remains there until
the forecast transaction occurs. When
the hedged item is a non-financial asset,
the amount recognised in equity is
transferred to the carrying amount of
the asset when it is recognised. In other
cases the amount recognised in equity
is transferred to the income statement
in the same period that the hedged item
affects profit or loss.
Hedge of net investment in foreign
operation
Where a derivative financial instrument
hedges a net investment in a foreign
operation, the portion of the gain or the
loss on the hedging instrument that is
determined to be an effective hedge is
recognised directly in equity within the
translation reserve, while the ineffective
portion is reported in the income
statement.
Economic hedges
Hedge accounting is not applied to
derivative instruments that economically
hedge monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies.
Changes in the fair value of such
derivatives are recognised in the income
statement as part of foreign currency
gains and losses.

(s) Revenue

Cash flow hedges
Changes in the fair value of the
derivative hedging instrument
designated as a cash flow hedge are
recognised directly in equity to the
extent that the hedge is effective. To
the extent that the hedge is ineffective,
changes in fair value are recognised in
the income statement.

Goods sold
Revenue from the sale of goods is
measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable,
net of returns and allowances, trade
discounts and volume rebates. Revenue
is recognised when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer, recovery of the
consideration is probable, the associated
costs and possible return of goods can
be estimated reliably, and there is no
continuing management involvement
with the goods.

If the hedging instrument no longer
meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
expires or is sold, terminated or

Transfers of risks and rewards vary
depending on the individual terms of the
contract of sale.
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Rental income
Rental income from investment
properties is recognised in the income
statement on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.
Government grants
Government grants are recognised
initially as deferred income when there
is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that Aliaxis will comply
with the conditions associated with
the grant. Grants that compensate
the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised in the income statement on
a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are recognised.
Grants that compensate the Group for
the cost of an asset are recognised in the
income statement on a systematic basis
over the useful life of the asset.

(t) Finance income and expenses
Finance income comprises interest
income on funds invested, dividend
income, gains on the disposal of availablefor-sale financial assets, changes in the
fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, foreign currency
gains, and gains on hedging instruments
that are recognised in the income
statement. Interest income is recognised
as it accrues, using the effective interest
method. Dividend income is recognised
on the date that the Group’s right to
receive payment is established.
Finance expenses comprise interest
expense on borrowings, unwinding
of the discount on provisions, foreign
currency losses, changes in the fair
value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, impairment losses
recognised on financial assets (except
losses on receivables) and losses on
hedging instruments that are recognised
in the income statement. All borrowing
costs are recognised in the income
statement using the effective interest
method.

(u) Lease payments
Payments made under operating leases
are recognised in the income statement

Consolidated financial statements

on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. Lease incentives received are
recognised as a reduction of the total
lease expense, over the term of the lease.
When an operating lease is terminated
before the lease period is expired, any
payment required to be made to the
lessor by way of penalty is recognised
as an expense in the period in which
termination takes place.
Minimum lease payments made under
finance leases are apportioned between
the finance expense and the reduction
of the outstanding liability. The finance
expense is allocated to each period
during the lease term so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability.

profit, and differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that they probably will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
that are expected to be applied to the
temporary differences when they reverse,
based on the laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are offset when they relate
to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and on the same
taxable entity or group of entities.
A deferred tax asset is recognised to
the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available

Contingent lease payments are
accounted for by revising the minimum
lease payments over the remaining term
of the lease when the lease adjustment
is confirmed.

against which temporary differences
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will
be realised.

(v) Income tax

(w) Contingencies

Income tax expense comprises current
and deferred tax. Income tax expense
is recognised in the income statement
except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised directly in equity, in
which case it is also recognised in equity.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised
in the consolidated financial statements,
except if they arise from a business
combination. They are disclosed, when
material, unless the possibility of a loss
is remote. Contingent assets are not
recognised in the consolidated financial
statements but are disclosed, when
material, if the inflow of economic
benefits is probable.

Current tax is the expected tax payable
on the taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.
Deferred tax is recognised using the
balance sheet liability method, providing
for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes
(including differences arising from fair
values of assets and liabilities acquired in
a business combination). Deferred tax is
not recognised for the initial recognition
of goodwill, the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities in a transaction that
is not a business combination and that
affects neither accounting nor taxable

(x) Events after the reporting date
Events after the reporting date which
provide additional information about
the Group’s position as at the reporting
date (adjusting events) are reflected in
the consolidated financial statements.
Events after the reporting date which
are non-adjusting events are disclosed in
the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements, when material.

(y) Earnings per share
Aliaxis presents basic and diluted
earnings per share (EPS) data for its
ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated

t h e

by dividing the profit or loss attributable
to ordinary shareholders of the Company
by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted EPS is determined by
adjusting the profit or loss attributable
to ordinary shareholders and the
weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding for the effects of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares,
which comprise share options granted to
employees.

(z) New standards and interpretations
not yet adopted

A number of new standards,
amendments to standards and
interpretations are not yet effective for
the year ended 31 December 2008, and
have not been applied in preparing these
consolidated financial statements.
• Revised IFRS 2 Share-based Payment –
Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
(applicable for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2009).
The Group has not yet determined the
potential effect of the amendment.
• Revised IFRS 3 Business Combinations
and revised IAS 27 Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements
(applicable for business combinations
occurring in the first accounting period
beginning on or after 1 July 2009;
the amendments are still subject to
endorsement by the European Union).
These standards complete the second
phase of the IASB’s project on business
combinations. The new requirements
take effect prospectively.
• Revised IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements (applicable for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009). The amendment will affect the
presentation of changes in equity.
• Revised IAS 23 Borrowing Costs
(applicable for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2009).
The impact on the Group’s accounts is
not expected to be significant.
• Amendments to IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements
– Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liquidation
(applicable for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2009).
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The Group has not yet determined the
potential effect of the amendment.
• IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes
(applicable for accounting years
beginning on or after 1 July 2008). The
Group has not yet determined the
potential impact of the interpretation.
• IFRIC 16 - Hedges of a Net Investment
in a Foreign Operation (applicable for
annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2009). The Group has not yet
determined the potential effect of the
interpretation.
• Improvements of IFRS (applicable as
from 1 January 2009). The impact on
the Group’s accounts is not expected to
be significant.

4. Business combinations
(a) Acquisition method
The acquisition method is applied to
account for a business combination.
The assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquired entity are
measured at their fair values at the date
of acquisition. The cost of acquisition
is measured as the fair value of assets
given up, shares issued or liabilities
undertaken at the date of acquisition,
plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s share of
the fair value of the net assets of the
entity acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
Aliaxis’ share in the fair value of the net
assets exceeds the cost of acquisition,
the excess is recognised immediately in
the income statement. Where necessary,
the acquired entity’s accounting policies
are changed to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by Aliaxis.

(b) Determination of fair values
The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that
meet the conditions for recognition
under IFRS 3 are recognised at their fair
value at acquisition date as follows:
• The fair value of property, plant and
equipment recognised as a result of
a business combination is based on
market values. The market value of
property is the estimated amount for
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which a property could be exchanged
on the date of valuation between a
willing buyer and a willing seller in an
arm’s length transaction after proper
marketing wherein the parties had
each acted knowledgeably, prudently
and without compulsion. The market
value of items of plant, equipment,
fixtures and fittings is based on the
quoted market prices for similar items.
• The fair value of patents and
trademarks acquired in a business
combination is based on the
discounted estimated royalty payments
that have been avoided as a result of
the patent or trademark being owned.
The fair value of other intangible assets
is based on the discounted cash flows
expected to be derived from the use
and eventual sale of the assets.
• The fair value of inventory acquired in
a business combination is determined
based on its estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and sale,
and a reasonable profit margin based
on the effort required to complete and
sell the inventory.
• Contingent liabilities are recognised
at fair value on acquisition, if their
fair value can be measured reliably.
The amount represents what a
third party would charge to assume
those contingent liabilities, and such
amount reflects all expectations
about possible cash flows and not
the single most likely or the expected
maximum or minimum cash flow. If,
after initial recognition, the contingent
liability becomes a liability, and the
provision required is higher than the
fair value recognised at acquisition,
then the liability is increased. The
additional amount is recognised as
a current period expense. If, after
initial recognition, the provision
required is lower than the amount
recognised at acquisition, then the
liability is recognised at the fair value
on acquisition and decreased, if
appropriate, for the amortisation of
the contingent liability to unwind the
discount embedded in the fair value of
the contingent liability.
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(c) Acquisitions of minority interests in
subsidiaries
If the cost to acquire minority interests in
a subsidiary is higher than the respective
carrying amount of the minority
interests at the date of the acquisition,
the difference shall be allocated to
goodwill. No re-measurement of assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities
is undertaken. Aliaxis continues to
consolidate the subsidiary at its carrying
amounts before the acquisition of the
minority interests.
If a minority interest holder has the right
to put its minority interest to Aliaxis, this
commitment is recorded as a financial
liability. Such agreements are accounted
for as an anticipated acquisition of
the underlying minority interests. The
minority interest in equity and the
profit of the year attributable to it are
calculated. The minority interest
at the reporting date is classified in
non-current liabilities under other
amounts payable and the result of the
year attributable to the minority interest
is recorded in financial result unless
it is a loss. Based on the information
prepared for the annual goodwill
impairment test and on the terms of
the exercise of the put, Aliaxis
determines a fair value of the stake
the minority interest holder will have
at the time the put option may be
exercised, after consideration for
discounting using an estimate of
the cost of equity. Such value is then
compared to the minority interest at the
reporting date. If it is not probable that
the fair value will differ, the calculated
minority interest liability is not adjusted.
If it is however probable that the fair
value will differ, the liability is either
increased or decreased. This adjustment
is recognised by adjusting the carrying
amount of goodwill.

5. Financial risk management
(a) Overview
This Note presents information
about the Group’s exposure to credit,
liquidity and market risks, the Group’s
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objectives, policies and processes for
measuring and managing risk, as well
as the Group’s management of capital.
Further quantitative disclosures are
included throughout the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
Risks relating to credit worthiness,
interest rate and exchange rate
movements, commodity prices and
liquidity arise in the Group’s normal
course of business. However, the most
significant financial exposures for
the Group relate to the fluctuation of
interest rates on the Group’s financial
debt and to fluctuations in currency
exchange rates.
The Group addresses these risks
and defines strategies to limit their
economic impact on its performance
in accordance with its financial risk
management policy. Such policy
includes the use of derivative financial
instruments. Although these derivative
financial instruments are subject
to fluctuations in market prices
subsequent to their acquisition, such
changes are generally offset by opposite
changes in the value of the underlying
items being hedged.
The Financial Audit Committee is
responsible for overseeing how
management monitors compliance with
the Group’s financial risk management
policies and procedures and reviews
the adequacy of the risk management
framework in relation to the risks
faced by the Group. The Financial Audit
Committee relies on the monitoring
performed by management.

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to
the Group if a customer or counterparty
to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations, and arises
principally from the Group’s receivables
from customers.
The Group’s exposure to credit
risk is influenced by the individual
characteristics of each customer, its
industry and the country or region

where it operates. The Group’s main
sales distribution channels are wholesale
and retail do-it-yourself (DIY) chains.
Despite a trend towards consolidation in
Europe and North America, the diversity
of Aliaxis’ product range helps it to
maintain a wide customer portfolio and
to avoid as much as possible exposure to
any significant individual customer.
Aliaxis management has a credit policy
in place and the exposure to credit
risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.
Credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit above
a certain amount. The Group does not
require collateral, except in very rare
circumstances, in respect of financial
assets.
Investments are allowed only in liquid
securities and only with counterparties
that have a robust credit rating.
Transactions involving derivatives
are with counterparties with whom
the Group has a signed netting
agreement and who have sound credit
ratings. Management does not expect
any counterparty to fail to meet its
obligations.
The Group establishes an allowance for
impairment that represents its estimate
of incurred losses in respect of trade and
other receivables and investments. The
main components of this allowance are
a specific loss component that relates to
individually significant exposures, and
a collective loss component established
for groups of similar assets in respect
of losses that have been incurred but
not yet identified. The collective loss
allowance is determined based on
historical data of payment statistics for
similar financial assets.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset, including derivatives
in the balance sheet.

(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group
will not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due.

t h e

Typically the Group ensures that it has
sufficient cash on demand to meet
expected operational expenses, including
the servicing of financial obligations; this
excludes the potential impact of extreme
circumstances that cannot reasonably be
predicted.
In addition, the Group has a multi
currency revolving credit facility of
€ 1 billion committed by a syndicate
of banks up to May 2010. The Group
obtained twice one year extension for
€ 954 million until May 2011 and
€ 936 million until May 2012.

(d) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in
market prices, such as foreign exchange
rates, commodity prices, interest rates
or equity prices will affect the Group’s
income or the value of its holdings of
financial instruments. The objective of
market risk management is to manage
and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimising
the return.
The Group buys and sells derivatives,
and also incurs financial liabilities, in
order to manage market risks. All such
transactions are carried out within the
financial risk management policies.
Generally, the Group seeks to apply
hedge accounting in order to manage
volatility in profit or loss.
Currency risk
The Group is exposed to foreign currency
risk on transactions such as sales,
purchases, borrowings, dividends, fees
and interest denominated in non-Euro
currencies. Currencies giving rise to
such risk are primarily the Canadian
dollar (CAD), sterling (GBP) and the
US dollar (USD). Where there is no
natural hedge, the foreign currency
risk is primarily managed by the use
of forward exchange contracts. All
contracts have maturities of less than
one year. Foreign currency risk on firm
commitments and forecast transactions
is subject to hedging (in whole or in
part) when the underlying operating
transactions are reasonably expected to
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occur within a determined time frame.
Hedge accounting is not applied to
derivative instruments that economically
hedge monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies.
Changes in the fair value of such
derivatives are recognised in the income
statement as part of foreign exchange
gains and losses.
The Group’s policy is to partially hedge
the risk arising from consolidating
net assets denominated in non-Euro
currencies by permanently maintaining
borrowings in such non-Euro currencies.
Where a foreign currency borrowing
is used to hedge a net investment in a
foreign operation, exchange differences
arising on translation of the borrowing
are recognised directly in equity within
translation reserve. The Group’s net
investments in Canada, USA, the UK,
New Zealand, Australia and South Africa
are partially hedged through borrowings
maintained in Canadian dollars, US
dollars, sterling, New Zealand dollars,
Australian dollars and South African
rand.
Interest on borrowings is denominated
in currencies that match the cash flows
generated by the underlying operations
of the Group, primarily CAD, Euro, GBP
and USD. This provides an economic
hedge and no derivatives are entered
into.
In respect of other monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies, the Group ensures that its net
exposure is kept to an acceptable level
by buying or selling foreign currencies
at spot rates when necessary to address
short-term imbalances.
Commodity risk
Raw materials used to manufacture
the Group’s products mainly
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consist of plastic resins such as
polyvinylchloride (PVC), polyethylene
(PE) and polypropylene (PP), which are
a significant element of the cost of the
Group’s products. The prices of these
raw materials are volatile and tend to
be cyclical, and Aliaxis is generally able
to recover raw material price increases
through higher product selling prices,
although sometimes after a time lag.
The Group tries to optimise its resin
purchases thanks to a centralised
approach to the procurement of major
raw materials.

(e) Capital management

In addition, the Group is also exposed
to the volatility of energy prices
(particularly electricity).

The Board of Directors also monitors
the level of dividends to ordinary
shareholders. The Group’s present
intention is to recommend to the
shareholders’ meeting a dividend
increasing in line with past practice and
subject to annual review in light of the
future profitability of the Group.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s floating-rate borrowings
are exposed to the risk of changes in
cash flows due to changes in interest
rates.
The Group’s policy is to hedge its
interest rate risk through swaps, caps,
synthetic options and other derivatives.
No derivatives are ever acquired or
maintained for speculative or leveraged
transactions.
Other market price risk
Demand for the Group’s products
is principally driven by the level of
construction activity in its main
markets, including new housing,
repairs, maintenance and improvement,
infrastructure and industrial markets.
Its geographical and industrial spread
provides a degree of risk diversification.
Demand is influenced by fluctuations
in the level of economic activity in
individual markets, the key determinants
of which include GDP growth, changes in
interest rates, the level of new housing
starts and industrial and infrastructure
investment.
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The Board’s policy is to maintain a
strong capital base so as to maintain
the confidence of investors, creditors
and other stakeholders and to sustain
future development of the business. The
Board of Directors monitors the return
on equity (profit of the year attributable
to equity holders of the Group divided
by the average of equity attributable
to equity holders of Aliaxis at the
beginning and end of the reporting
period).

No assurance can however be given that
the Company will pay dividends in the
future. Such payments will depend upon
a number of factors, including prospects,
strategies, results of operations, earnings,
capital requirements and surplus,
general financial conditions, contractual
restrictions and other factors considered
relevant by the Board. Pursuant to the
Belgian Company code, the calculation
of amounts available for distribution to
shareholders, as dividends or otherwise
must be determined on the basis of the
Company’s non-consolidated Belgian
GAAP financial statements by which the
Company is required to allocate each
year at least 5% of its annual net profits
to its legal reserve, until the legal reserve
equals at least 10% of the Company’s
share capital. As a consequence of these
factors, there can be no assurance as to
whether dividends or similar payments
will be paid out in the future or, if they
are paid, what their amount will be.

Consolidated financial statements

The Board seeks to maintain a balance
between the higher returns that
might be possible with higher levels of
borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital
position. In 2008, the return on equity
was 12.2% (2007: 19.4%). In comparison

6. Acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries
and minority interests
On April 1, 2008, the Group acquired
the shares of RX Plastics in New Zealand.

the weighted average interest expense
on interest-bearing borrowings was 6.8%
(2007: 6.7%).
There were no changes in the Group’s
approach to capital management during
the year, which will remain prudent given

During the second half of the year, the
Group acquired the shares of Dalpex
(Italy) and the assets of Provinil (Brazil).

the current economic circumstances.
Neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries are subject to externally
imposed capital requirements.

These acquisitions had the following
effect on the Group’s assets and
liabilities at the date of acquisition:

Recognised values on acquisition
(€ ‘000s)

Notes

Dalpex
Group

RX Plastics

Provinil

Total

Intangible assets

13

111

36

15,545

15,693

Property, plant and equipment

14

3,395

5,863

6,349

15,607

Deferred tax assets

24

362

61

64

486

Inventories

9,628

6,984

3,370

19,982

Amounts receivable

34,101

5,576

8,680

48,357

Employee benefits

23b

Amounts payable
Net identifiable assets and liabilities
Goodwill on acquisition

13

(670)

(66)

-

(736)

(31,404)

(11,846)

(3,706)

(46,955)

15,524

6,608

30,303

52,434

14,064

23,964

-

38,028

Advance payment last year

(3,926)

-

-

(3,926)

Total net cash outflow

25,662

30,572

30,303

86,537

11,131

30,846

34,052

76,029

consisting of:
- consideration paid, satisfied in cash
- cash and cash equivalents acquired
Consideration paid, satisfied in cash

The value of assets and liabilities
recognised on acquisition are their
estimated fair values (see Note 4 for
methods used in determining fair values).
Goodwill is attributable to the
profitability and the growth potential of
the acquired businesses.

14,531

(274)

(3,749)

10,508

25,662

30,572

30,303

86,537

In December 2008, the Group has also
agreed to acquire the 40% remaining
minority interests in Paling Industries
(a Malaysian company) for a net
consideration of € 3,425, of which 10%
was paid in 2008 and 90%
in January 2009.

t h e

On February 29, 2008, the Group sold
the Greenwood business in the UK, for a
total consideration of € 40,130, resulting
in a net gain on disposal of € 32,208 (see
Note 10).
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7. Other operating income and expenses
(€ ‘000s)
Government grants
Rental income from investment properties

2008

2007

777

669

1,629

896

Operating costs of investment properties

(665)

(455)

Capital gain on the sale of fixed assets

1,699

6,484

Restructuring costs

(8,081)

(9,066)

Taxes to be considered as operating expenses

(8,781)

(9,264)

1,375

1,697

Other rental income
Insurance recovery
Other
Other operating income / (expenses)

254

121

(1,971)

(1,896)

(13,764)

(10,813)

8. Non-recurring items
2008

2007

Impairment of goodwill

Notes
13

(9,062)

–

Other non-recurring items

30

(29,206)

–

(38,268)

–

(€ ‘000s)

Non-recurring items

The cost in respect of other non-recurring items mainly relates to the settlement of the Nevada class action in North America
(See Note 30).

9. Additional information on operating expenses
The following personnel expenses are included in the operating result:

Notes

(€ ‘000s)
Wages & salaries
Social security contributions
Net change in restructuring provisions

2007

431,434

437,517

75,833

76,216

932

(98)

Expenses for defined benefit plans

23b

8,151

12,255

Contributions to defined contribution plans

23a

8,125

7,000

Share-based payments

23c

Other personnel expenses
Personnel expenses

t h e

2008
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2,546

1,878

18,256

16,247

545,277

551,015
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The total average number of personnel was as follows:

(in units)
Production
Sales and marketing
R&D and administration
Total workforce

2008

2007

10,979

10,618

3,203

3,212

1,921

1,956

16,103

15,786

Personnel expenses, depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges are included in the following line items of the income statement:

(€ ‘000s)

Personnel
expenses

Depreciation and
impairment
of property,
plant & equipment
and investment
property

Amortisation and
impairment of
intangible fixed
assets

Total depreciation,
amortisation and
impairment

308,446

61,954

540

62,494

Cost of sales
Commercial expenses

128,082

1,747

305

2,052

Administrative expenses

87,791

6,844

2,166

9,010

R&D expenses

12,704

625

151

776

8,254

2,602

245

2,863

Other operating income / (expenses)
Non recurring items
Total

-

-

9,062

9,046

545,277

73,772

12,469

86,241

10. Finance income
(€ ‘000s)

2008

2007

Interest income from cash & cash equivalents

2,770

5,226

Interest income on other assets

450

569

Dividend income

280

226

Net change in the fair value of hedging derivatives

4,263

686

Gain on disposal of businesses, net

32,553

-

238

166

40,554

6,873

Other
Finance income
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11. Finance expense
2008

2007

(35,927)

(40,003)

Amortisation of deferred arrangement fees

(550)

(582)

Interest expense on other liabilities

(374)

(165)

60

(52)

(€ ‘000s)
Interest expense on financial borrowings

Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to income statement
Net foreign exchange loss

(22,863)

(36)

-

(2,313)

Loss on disposal of businesses, net
Bank fees
Other
Finance expense

(3,297)

(2,854)

(4,099)

(1,939)

(67,050)

(47,942)

2008

2007

(41,037)

(74,821)

12. Income taxes
Income taxes recognised in the income statement can be detailed as follows:

(€ ‘000s)
Current taxes for the year
Adjustments to current taxes in respect of prior periods

1,457

1,212

(39,580)

(73,609)

Origination and reversal of temporary differences

1,057

(9,973)

Impact of change in enacted tax rates

1,127

7,470

Adjustment to deferred taxes in respect of prior periods

(62)

1,990

23

1,033

Total current tax expense

Recognition of deferred tax assets on tax losses and tax credits
Total deferred tax income/(expense)
Income tax expense in the income statement

2,145

520

(37,435)

(73,089)

The reconciliation of the effective tax rate with the aggregated weighted nominal tax rate can be summarised as follows:

2008

%

2007

(46,684)

28.9%

(84,778)

33.7%

Non-deductible expenses

(2,537)

1.6%

(2,602)

1.0%

Non-deductible impairment of goodwill

(3,015)

1.9%

-

0.0%

Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognised

(3,782)

2.3%

(1,774)

0.7%

1,127

(0.7%)

7,470

(3.0%)

(€ ‘000s)
Profit before taxes

161,439

Tax at aggregated weighted nominal tax rate

%

251,417

Tax effect of:

Change in enacted tax rates
Taxes on distributed and undistributed earnings

(3,717)

2.3%

(3,431)

1.4%

Withholding taxes on interest and royalty income

(1,282)

0.8%

(1,341)

0.5%

Utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised

1,517

(0.9%)

490

(0.2%)

14,426

(8.9%)

13,135

(5.2%)

Current tax adjustments in respect of prior periods

1,457

(0.9%)

1,212

(0.5%)

Deferred tax adjustments in respect of prior periods

(62)

0.0%

1,990

(0.8%)

23

0.0%

1,033

(0.4%)

Untaxed gain (loss) on disposals of businesses

9,469

(5.9%)

457

(0.2%)

Other

(4,375)

2.7%

(4,950)

2.0%

(37,435)

23.2%

(73,090)

29.1%

Tax savings from special tax status

Recognition of deferred tax assets on tax losses and tax credits

Income tax expense in the income statement
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13. Intangible assets
2008
(€ ‘000s)

Other
intangible
assets
(finite life)

Total
intangible
assets

Total
intangible
assets

619,664

35,279

654,943

540,420

52,087

639

52,726

111,437

38,028

851

38,879

111,838

Cost
As at 1 January

2007

Goodwill

Movements during the year:
Changes in the consolidation scope
- New consolidation share deal
- New consolidation asset deal

15,562

-

15,562

-

- Deconsolidation

(1,503)

(212)

(1,715)

(401)

1,304

3,942

5,246

3,741

Disposals & retirements

-

(367)

(367)

(692)

Transfers

-

993

993

2,168

Acquisitions

Other movements

(50,000)

-

(50,000)

(375)

Exchange difference

(59,624)

(1,922)

(61,546)

(1,756)

563,431

38,564

601,995

654,943

(21,150)

(25,230)

(46,380)

(43,969)

-

(559)

(559)

10

- New consolidation

-

(703)

(703)

(276)

- Deconsolidation

-

144

144

286

Charge for the year

(9,062)

(3,407)

(12,469)

(3,079)

-

(3,334)

(3,334)

(2,966)

As at 31 December
Amortisation and impairment losses
As at 1 January
Movements during the year:
Changes in the consolidation scope

- Ordinary amortisation

(9,062)

(73)

(9,135)

(113)

Disposals & retirements

- Impairment (recognised) / reversed

-

333

333

583

Transfers

-

(84)

(84)

1

Exchange difference

4,210

1,538

5,748

73

(26,002)

(27,409)

(53,411)

(46,380)

Carrying amount at the end of the
period

537,429

11,155

548,584

608,563

Carrying amount at the end of the
previous period

598,514

10,049

608,563

496,451

As at 31 December

The recognition criteria regarding
capitalisation of development expenditure
were not met and this expenditure has
therefore been recognised in the income
statement as an expense.
The Group’s goodwill relates mainly to
the plastic activities acquired through

the purchases of Etex SA (1994), Marley
Plc (1999), Glynwed Pipe Systems (2001)
and Durman Esquivel SA (2007).
In respect of the businesses of Aliaxis
Latinoamerica Cooperatief UA for which
the 49% minority interest holder has
the right to put its minority interest to

t h e

Aliaxis, goodwill has been decreased by
€ 50 million to reflect the reduction in
the Group’s liability in respect of the right
of put by the minority (see Note 26) and
this is reported in ‘Other movements’ in
the table above.
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The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December is as follows:

(€ ‘000s)

2008

2007

218,863

252,991

36,487

64,174

Reporting unit, country
Ipex, Canada and USA
Durman, Central America
FIP, Italy

61,887

61,887

Friatec, Germany

44,425

44,425

Philmac, Australia

25,766

31,174

Nicoll, France

26,495

26,495

Durman, Mexico

-

25,643

Marley, Germany

19,402

19,402

Marley Plastics, UK

4,757

7,813

Nicoll, Peru

7,228

7,169

Durapipe, UK

4,338

5,635

19,909

-

13,207

-

RX Plastics, NZ
Nicoll Industria Plastica, Brazil
Dalpex, Italy

14,063

-

Other (1)

40,601

51,706

537,428

598,514

Goodwill
(1)

Carrying amount of goodwill for various CGUs of which none is individually significant

The Group tests goodwill annually for
impairment.
The recoverable amounts of the
CGU’s are determined from value-inuse calculations. These value-in-use
calculations use free cash flow projections
the starting point of which was the
performance of the business in 2008, and
take into account 2009 revised budget
information reflecting the impact of the
economic recession. Further strategic
assumptions are made for each reporting
unit and include amongst others a
gradual recovery at a later stage.
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The terminal value is based on a
normalized cash flow for each business
and a sustainable nominal growth rate
(including the expected inflation rate)
of on average 2% for industrialized
countries and 3.5% for emerging
economies to reflect the higher growth
prospects for the latter. The terminal
value is discounted at the unit’s pre-tax
weighted average cost of capital which
ranged primarily between 10% and
16%. The cost of equity component for
developed economies is based on a risk
free rate and an equity risk premium.
For emerging countries, a country risk
premium is added. The cost of debt
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component for both types of economies
reflects the estimated long term cost of
funding in the corresponding economies.
Based on the above mentioned test and
after having examined the sensitivity to
a change of the weighted average cost of
capital, an impairment of goodwill for an
amount of € 9 million (2007: nil) relating
to the goodwill assigned to a business in
Monaco has been recorded.
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14. Property, plant and equipment
2008
(€ ‘000s)
Cost or deemed cost
As at 1 January

Land &
Plant,
buildings machinery &
equipment

2007

Other

Under
construction
& advance
payments

Total

Total

399,365

975,630

95,326

36,713

1,507,034

1,401,605

(447)

14,748

1,263

815

16,379

65,394

660

24,000

1,788

880

27,328

75,530

(1,107)

(9,252)

(525)

(65)

(10,949)

(10,136)

Movements during the year:
Changes in the consolidation scope
- New consolidation
- Deconsolidation
Acquisitions

15,562

44,411

7,310

37,227

104,510

101,429

Disposals & retirements

(7,933)

(24,545)

(7,005)

(68)

(39,551)

(41,651)

3,010

20,665

(72)

(31,310)

(7,707)

(3,958)

Exchange difference

(23,093)

(79,330)

(6,349)

(4,577)

(113,349)

(15,785)

As at 31 December

386,464

951,579

90,473

38,800

1,467,316

1,507,034

(95,759)

(731,030)

(72,911)

(14)

(899,714)

(848,369)

41

(2,837)

(613)

-

(3,409)

(23,206)

(264)

(10,527)

(917)

-

(11,708)

(30,959)

305

7,690

304

-

8,299

7,753

Transfers

Depreciation and impairment losses
As at 1 January
Movements during the year:
Changes in the consolidation scope
- New consolidation
- Deconsolidation
Charge for the year
- Ordinary depreciation
- Impairment (recognised) / reversed
Disposals & retirements
Transfers

(13,421)

(52,397)

(7,375)

-

(73,193)

(72,726)

(12,708)

(51,812)

(7,329)

-

(71,849)

(72,011)

(713)

(585)

(46)

-

(1,344)

(715)

3,315

22,916

6,479

14

32,724

34,327

25

5,665

917

-

6,607

1,526

4,645

58,193

4,679

-

67,517

8,734

(101,154)

(699,490)

(68,824)

-

(869,468)

(899,714)

Carrying amount at the end of the
period

285,310

252,089

21,649

38,800

597,848

607,320

Carrying amount at the end of the
previous period

303,606

244,600

22,415

36,699

607,320

553,236

9,126
6,357

3,569
3,310

2,832
2,727

169

15,527
12,563

12,563
10,514

Exchange difference
As at 31 December

Of which:
Leased assets at the end of the period
Leased assets at the end of the
previous period

Management considers that residual values of depreciable property, plant and equipment are insignificant.
Leased assets principally consist of buildings and machinery. During 2008, new leased assets were acquired for a total amount of € 6,185
(2007: € 3,818).
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15. Investment properties
(€ ‘000s)

2008

2007

11,684

11,788

9,378

1

Cost
As at 1 January
Movements during the year:
Acquisitions
Transfers
Exchange difference
As at 31 December

135

-

(1,174)

(105)

20,023

11,684

(1,601)

(1,396)

(580)

(229)

(580)

(229)

54

-

Depreciation and impairment losses
As at 1 January
Movements during the year:
Charge for the year
- Ordinary depreciation
Transfers
Exchange difference

(52)

24

As at 31 December

(2,179)

(1,601)

Carrying amount as at 31 December

17,844

10,083

Investment property comprises four commercial properties which are leased (in whole or in part) to third parties. The fair market
value of the investment properties is estimated at € 23.1 million (2007: € 15.8 million).

16. Equity accounted investees
(€ ‘000s)
Carrying amount as at 1 January

2008

2007

20,527

19,723

-

687

-

687

Movements during the year:
Changes in the consolidation scope
- New consolidation
Capital increase / (decrease)
Dividends
Result of the year
Exchange difference
Carrying amount as at 31 December
The carrying amount of equity accounted investees mainly represents the investment in Vinilit (Chile).

t h e

alia xis

g rou p

year

i n

revi ew ‘0 8

56

(331)

-

(1,473)

(2,474)

2,098

3,362

(3,402)

(771)

17,419

20,527
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Summarised financial information (1)

2008

2007

7,608

12,167

(€ ‘000s)
Property, plant & equipment
Other non current assets
Current assets
Non current liabilities

1,948
55,028

(773)

(1,214)

(11,469)

(16,827)

Total net assets

43,513

51,102

Net sales

47,555

56,561

Operating profit

3,700

8,529

Profit after income tax

5,602

8,504

2008

2007

Current liabilities

(1)

997
47,150

Not adjusted for the percentage ownership held by Aliaxis

17. Inventories
As at 31 December
(€ ‘000s)
Raw materials, packaging materials and consumables

82,212

79,373

Components

41,859

41,068

Work in progress
Finished goods
Goods purchased for resale
Inventories, net of write-down

16,872

17,375

244,700

229,232

46,147

44,975

431,790

412,023

The total write-down of inventories amounts to € 25,072 at 31 December 2008 (2007: € 25,786).
The cost of write-downs recognised in the income statement during the period amounted to € 7,525 (2007: € 5,730).

18. Amounts receivable
As at 31 December

2008

2007

334,501

343,294

Allowance for doubtful debtors

(15,614)

(14,498)

Trade receivables

318,887

328,796

(€ ‘000s)
Trade receivables - gross

Income taxes recoverable
Other taxes recoverable
Derivative financial instruments with positive fair values

31,270

9,476

24,090

24,063

9,613

6,247

Other

16,441

17,846

Other amounts receivable

81,414

57,632

400,301

386,428

Amounts receivable

t h e

al iaxis

gr ou p

y ear

i n

r evi ew ‘0 8

57

Consolidated financial statements

19. Cash and cash equivalents
As at 31 December

2008

2007

Short term bank deposits

20,634

29,653

Bank current accounts

92,353

84,024

440

688

Cash & cash equivalents

113,427

114,365

Bank overdrafts

(38,163)

(25,831)

75,264

88,534

(€ ‘000s)

Cash

Cash & cash equivalents in the cash flow statement

20. Equity
Share capital and share premium
The share capital and share premium of
the Company as of 31 December 2008
amounts to € 75,874 (2007: € 75,786),
represented by 91,119,465 fully paid
ordinary shares without par value (2007:
91,108,515).
During 2008, the share capital and share
premium increased by € 8 and € 80
respectively as a result of the exercise of
stock options under the 2000 Stock Option
Plan (see Note 23(c)).
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled
to receive dividends as declared and one
vote per share at shareholders’ meetings of
the Company.
Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the
effective portion of the accumulated net
change in the fair value of cash flow hedge
instruments for a total negative amount
of € 6,149 (2007 : total positive amount of €
727). In this respect see also Note 27.
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Reserve for own shares
At 31 December 2008, the Group held
6,095,537 of the Company’s shares
(2007: 6,088,487).
During 2008, the Group sold 630,530
shares to Group personnel following
the exercise of share options, and
subsequently acquired 627,530 shares
from Group personnel following the
exercise of put options in accordance
with the share option plans granted by
the Group (see also Note 23 (c)).
The difference between the total
acquisition price paid by the Group
(€ 12,463) and the historical weighted
average price of the shares in the
accounts (€ 3,197) resulted in a net
movement of € 9,266 of the reserve for
own shares. The Group also recognised,
directly in retained earnings, a profit of
€ 2,780 resulting from the difference
between the historical weighted average
price of the shares and the exercise price
of the share options as defined in the
share option plans.
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During 2008, the Group also acquired
10,050 shares of which 2,250 were
acquired from Group personnel (put
options exercised in respect of shares
acquired under the 2000 Stock Option
Plan) and 7,800 shares were acquired
as a result of the exercise by Etex Group
SA personnel of share options under
the 2000 Etex Group SA Share Option
Plan. The Group paid in total € 153 for the
10,050 shares acquired.
During 2007, the Group acquired in
total 36,150 shares of which 10,350
were acquired from Group personnel
(put options exercised in respect of
shares acquired under the 2000 Stock
Option Plan) and 25,800 shares were
acquired as a result of the exercise
by Etex Group SA personnel of share
options under the 2000 Etex Group SA
Share Option Plan. The Group paid in
total € 954 for the 36,150 shares
acquired.
Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all
foreign currency differences arising
from the translation of the financial
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statements of foreign entities of the
Group. The negative change in the
translation reserve during 2008 amounts
to € 65,429 and is mainly attributable to
the weakening of the GBP and the CAD
versus the EUR.
In 2007, the negative change in the
translation reserve amounted to
€ 10,057 and was mainly attributable
to the weakening of the USD versus the
EUR only partially compensated by the
strengthening of the CAD versus the EUR.

Dividends
In 2008, an amount of € 19,133 was
declared and paid as dividends by Aliaxis
(a gross dividend of € 0.21 per share).
Excluding the portion attributable to
treasury shares, the amount was € 17,854.
An amount of € 20,957 (a gross dividend
of € 0.23 per share) is proposed by the
directors to be declared and paid as
dividend for the current year. Excluding
the portion attributable to treasury
shares, the amount is € 19,639.
This dividend has not been provided for.

21. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per
share is based on the profit attributable
to equity holders of Aliaxis of € 124,305
(2007: € 179,681) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year net of
treasury shares, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares, net of treasury shares

2008

2007

91,109

91,074

Treasury shares

(6,089)

(6,052)

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January, net of treasury shares

85,020

85,022

(in thousands of shares)
Issued ordinary shares

Effect of shares issued during the year

2

14

Effect of treasury shares acquired during the year

-

(4)

85,022

85,032

Weighted average number of ordinary shares as at
31 December, net of treasury shares

Diluted earnings per share
The calculation of diluted earnings per
share is based on the profit attributable
to equity holders of Aliaxis of € 124,305

(2007: € 179,681) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year net of
treasury shares and after adjustment

for the effects of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted), net of treasury shares

2008

2007

85,022

85,032

309

985

85,331

86,017

(in thousands of shares)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, net of treasury shares (basic)
Effect of share options
Weighted average number of ordinary shares as at
31 December (diluted), net of treasury shares
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22. Interest bearing loans and borrowings
As at 31 December

2008

2007

(€ ‘000s)
Non-current
Secured bank loans
Unsecured bank loans
Deferred arrangement fees
Finance lease liability
Other loans and borrowings

11,416

12,510

426,800

447,655

-

(284)

11,074

9,224

23,167

39,049

472,457

508,154

Secured bank loans

4,596

24,333

Unsecured bank loans

61,571

23,147

Deferred arrangement fees

(259)

(567)

Non-current interest bearing loans and borrowings
Current

Finance lease liability

2,694

2,327

20,846

3,899

Current interest bearing loans and borrowings

89,448

53,139

Interest bearing loans and borrowings

561,905

561,293

Other loans and borrowings

The main source of financing of the
Group is a five year committed multicurrency revolving credit facility of
€ 1 billion between Aliaxis Finance SA
and a syndicate of banks, which was
arranged in May 2005 and subsequently
extended to May 2012. This syndicated
loan is unsecured and subject to
standard covenants and undertakings
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for this type of facility. The borrowing
rate is based on a short-term interest
rate plus margin. The management of
interest rate risk is described in Note 27.
The total amount of the facility is
€ 1 billion until May 2010, € 954 million
until May 2011 and € 936 million until
May 2012.
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At 31 December 2008, € 420 million
of the facility was drawn (2007:
€ 447 million).
Other facilities of Aliaxis Finance SA and
other subsidiaries of the Group include
a number of additional bilateral and
multilateral credit facilities.
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The terms and conditions of significant interest bearing loans and borrowings were as follows:

As at 31 December

2008
Nominal interest rate

Year of
maturity Face value

EUR

5%

2011-2012

854

854

-

-

MYR

6%

2009-2012

481

481

-

-

(€ ‘000s)
Curr.
Secured bank loans
NZD
PEN

MXN
USD

USD
GTQ

USD

USD

8.97 - 9.83%
8%

various

various

Libor + 1.15%
8%

5% - 7%

7.61% - 6.72%

Unsecured syndication bank facility
CAD
Libor + 0.30%
AUD

Libor + 0.30%

GBP

Libor + 0.30%

EUR

NZD
USD

Euribor + 0.30%
Libor + 0.30%

Libor + 0.30%

Other unsecured bank facility
NZD

O/N BKBM +margin

HNL

15% - 17%

ARS

AUD
COP

GTQ

CAD

MXN
USD

USD

USD
EUR
ZAR

30% - 40%

Libor + 0.30%
15% - 18%

1,198

1,198

2011

-

-

2008

2008

2009-2014

-

-

780

-

4,863

6,407

6,407

2,322

2,322

780

3,881

3,881

12,071

-

2,201

2,201

2012

176,491

176,491

207,627

207,627

2012

108,000

108,000

113,000

113,000

2012

37,204

37,204

15,770

15,770

2012-2015

2012
2012

2012

2009

-

14,797

47,244

35,927

7,234

14,797

47,244

17,903

17,903

58,635

58,635

35,927

33,965

33,965

7,234

7,725

7,725

1,841

-

2009

3,079

3,079

2008

-

-

3,581

3,581

2,163

-

-

2013

1,841

6% - 7%

2015

tasa basica + 2.25%

-

4,863

12,071

2009- 2010

Jibar + 1%

-

2012-2015

various

Euribor + margins

-

12,207

388

5% - 10%

-

12,207

388

11%

Carrying
amount

-

no due date

tasa basica + 2.50%

CRC

2009

BA + margin

CRC
CRC

547

5,967

TMOP

CRC

547

5,967

EUR
CRC

2009-2010

Carrying
amount Face value

2009

8%

Unsecured bonds issues

2012-2013

2,163

2009

3,704

3,704

2009

31,790

31,790

2009

2,801

2,801

293

4,003

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

293

-

-

-

-

4,003

-

-

-

-

-

2009

4,592

4,592

5,982

5,982

2009

20,000

20,000

20,000

20,000

2011

2,562

2,562

2,731

2009

-

-

2,731

2,731
2,731

tasa basica + 0.15%

2012

12,812

12,812

13,656

13,656

tasa basica + 0.50%

2015

3,203

3,203

-

-

tasa basica + 0.20%

2012

Others (1)

3,203

16,675

Total interest bearing loans and borrowings
(1)

2007

561,905

3,203

16,675

561,905

-

-

26,107

26,107

561,293

561,293

Other interest bearing loans and borrowings include loans and finance lease liabilities in many different currencies at both fixed and floating rates.
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The debt repayment schedule is as follows:

(€ ‘000s)
Secured bank loans
Unsecured bank loans
Deferred arrangement fees
Finance lease liability

Total

1 year or less

1-2 years

2-5 years

More than 5 years

16,012

4,596

3,461

4,966

2,989

488,371

61,571

2,360

423,593

847

(259)

(259)

-

-

-

13,768

2,694

2,315

3,910

4,849

Other loans and borrowings

44,013

20,846

948

19,017

3,202

Total as at 31 December 2008

561,905

89,448

9,084

451,486

11,887

The finance lease liabilities are as follows:

2008
Minimum
lease
payments

(€ ‘000s)

Principal

Minimum
lease
payments

Interest

Principal

Less than 1 year

3,540

846

2,694

2,782

455

2,327

Between 1 and 5 years

8,005

1,780

6,225

6,126

875

5,251

More than 5 years

5,614

765

4,849

4,621

648

3,973

Total as at 31 December

17,159

3,391

13,768

13,529

1,978

11,551

23. Employee benefits
Aliaxis maintains benefit plans such
as retirement and medical care plans,
termination plans and other long-term
benefit plans in several countries in which
the Group operates.
In addition, the Group also has share-based
payment plans.

(a) Defined contribution plans
For defined contribution plans, the Group
companies pay contributions to pension
funds or insurance companies.
Once the contributions have been paid, the
Group companies have no further payment
obligation. The regular contributions
constitute an expense for the year in
which they are due. In 2008, the defined

t h e

2007

Interest

alia xis

g rou p

year

i n

contribution plan expenses for the Group
amounted to € 8,125 (2007: € 7,000).

(b) Defined benefit plans
Aliaxis has a total of 83 defined benefit
plans, which provide the following benefits:
• Retirement benefits : 56
• Long service awards : 17
• Termination benefits : 6
• Medical benefits : 4
All the plans have been established in
accordance with common practice and legal
requirements in each relevant country.
The retirement benefit plans generally
provide a benefit related to years of service
and rates of pay close to retirement.
The plans in Belgium, South Africa,
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Switzerland and the UK are separately
funded through external insurance
contracts or separate funds. There are both
funded and unfunded plans in Canada,
Germany, Austria and France. The plans in
Italy and New Zealand are unfunded.
The termination benefit plans consist of
early retirement plans in Germany.
The medical plans provide medical benefits
after retirement to former employees in
France, South Africa, USA and the UK.
The long service awards are granted in
Austria, Germany, New Zealand and France.
The Group’s net liability for postemployment, termination and other long
term benefit plans comprises the following
at 31 December:

Consolidated financial statements

2008
(€ ‘000s)

Present value of funded obligations
Fair value of plan assets
Present value of net funded obligations

Retirement
and
medical
plans

Termination
benefits

2007

Other
long term
benefits

TOTAL

Retirement
and
medical
plans

Termination
benefits

Other
long
term
benefits

TOTAL

148,088

-

-

148,088

194,313

-

-

194,313

(140,960)

-

-

(140,960)

(197,147)

-

-

(197,147)

7,128

-

-

7,128

(2,834)

-

-

(2,834)

Present value of unfunded obligations

35,963

3,269

3,069

42,301

40,903

4,071

2,996

47,970

Unrecognised actuarial gains/(losses)

4,856

-

-

4,856

19,286

-

-

19,286

Unrecognised past service cost

(464)

-

-

(464)

(1,393)

-

-

(1,393)

173

-

-

173

862

-

-

862

606

-

-

606

-

-

-

-

Total defined benefit liabilities / (assets)

48,262

3,269

3,069

54,600

56,824

4,071

2,996

63,891

Liabilities

49,205

3,269

3,069

55,543

57,791

4,071

2,996

64,858

Unrecognised asset due to asset limit
Additional liability due to IFRIC 14

Assets
Net liability as at 31 December

(943)

-

-

(943)

(967)

-

-

(967)

48,262

3,269

3,069

54,600

56,824

4,071

2,996

63,891

The movements in the net liability for defined benefit obligations recognised in the balance sheet at 31 December are as follows:

2008
(€ ‘000s)

Net liability in the balance sheet
at 1 January
Employer contributions
Pension expense recognised
in the income statement
Scope changes

2007

Retirement
and
medical
plans

Termination
benefits

Other
long term
benefits

TOTAL

Retirement
and
medical
plans

Termination
benefits

Other
long
term
benefits

TOTAL

56,824

4,071

2,996

63,891

70,170

4,697

2,969

77,836

(14,199)

(962)

(140)

(15,301)

(24,056)

(1,452)

(188)

(25,696)

7,658

160

333

8,151

11,201

826

227

12,254

627

-

64

691

-

-

-

-

Exchange difference

(2,648)

-

(184)

(2,832)

(491)

-

(12)

(503)

Net liability as at 31 December

48,262

3,269

3,069

54,600

56,824

4,071

2,996

63,891
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The changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:

2008
(€ ‘000s)

2007

Retirement
and
medical
plans

Termination
benefits

Other
long term
benefits

TOTAL

Retirement
and
medical
plans

Termination
benefits

Other
long
term
benefits

TOTAL

235,215

4,071

2,996

242,282

259,980

4,697

2,969

267,646

9,556

538

238

10,332

11,827

155

274

12,256

Defined benefit obligation at 1 January
Service cost
Interest cost

12,088

183

169

12,440

12,927

157

98

13,182

(25,103)

(561)

(74)

(25,738)

(26,299)

514

(145)

(25,929)

Past service cost

(887)

-

-

(887)

458

-

-

458

(Gains) / losses on curtailment

(420)

-

-

(420)

(1,559)

-

-

(1,559)

(11,989)

(962)

(140)

(13,091)

(9,002)

(1,452)

(188)

(10,642)

Actuarial (gains) / losses

Benefits paid
Scope changes

627

-

64

691

-

-

-

-

Exchange difference

(35,035)

-

(184)

(35,219)

(13,117)

-

(12)

(13,129)

Defined benefit obligation as at
31 December

184,052

3,269

3,069

190,390

235,215

4,071

2,996

242,282

The changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

2008

2007

Retirement
and
medical
plans

Termination
benefits

Other
long term
benefits

TOTAL

Retirement
and
medical
plans

Termination
benefits

Other
long
term
benefits

TOTAL

Fair value of plan assets at 1 January

(197,147)

-

-

(197,147)

(185,134)

-

-

(185,134)

Expected return

(12,507)

-

-

(12,507)

(12,781)

-

-

(12,781)

38,127

-

-

38,127

3,093

-

-

3,093

(15,300)

(962)

(140)

(16,402)

(25,351)

(1,452)

(188)

(26,991)

11,989

962

140

13,091

9,002

1,452

188

10,642

(€ ‘000s)

Actuarial (gains) / losses
Contributions by employer and employee
Benefits paid
Exchange difference
Fair value of plan assets as at 31 December

The actual return on plan assets in 2008
and 2007 was € (25,097) and € 9,303
respectively.
During 2008, the defined benefit
obligation and the fair value of plan
assets decreased. For the defined benefit
obligation, this is due to plans being one
year older, more than offset by a higher
discount rate and exchange differences.
The funded position, i.e. the ratio of assets
to the defined benefit obligation, has
decreased from 81% to 74%. The decrease
in the funded position is essentially due
to the asset mix allocation in the UK.

t h e
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33,878

-

-

33,878

14,024

-

-

14,024

(140,960)

-

-

(140,960)

(197,147)

-

-

(197,147)

The total contributions amounted to
€ 16,402 (2007: € 26,991) of which € 15,301
was contributed by the employer (2007:
€ 25,696) and € 1,101 was contributed
by the employees (2007: € 1,295). The
decrease is essentially due to the special
contributions made in 2007.
The net defined benefit liability has
substantially decreased during the year
from € 64 million to € 55 million. This
decrease is essentially due to lower
pension expenses in the UK. The total
employer contributions are € 7.1 million
higher than the pension expense. The
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pension expense for 2008 is € 8.2 million
(2007: € 12.3 million).
The Group expects to contribute
approximately € 10.7 million to its
defined benefit plans in 2009.
The historical evolution of the present
value of the defined benefit obligation,
the fair value of plan assets, the
unrecognised actuarial gains and losses,
the unrecognised past service costs and
the unrecognised assets is as follows:

Consolidated financial statements

(€ ‘000s)
As at 31 December
Present value of defined benefit obligations
Fair value of plan assets

2008

2007

2006

190,390

242,282

267,646

(140,960)

(197,147)

(185,134)

Unrecognised actuarial gains/(losses)

4,856

19,286

(3,677)

Unrecognised past service costs

(464)

(1,393)

(2,222)

173

862

1,223

Unrecognised asset due to asset limit
Additional liability due to IFRIC 14
Change in the actuarial gains/(losses) during the year of which:

606

-

-

(12,389)

22,837

9,966

* due to experience adjustments

(37,892)

3,488

1,950

* due to assumption adjustments

25,503

19,349

8,016

The expense recognised in the income statement with regard to defined benefit plans can be detailed as follows:

2008
(€ ‘000s)

2007

Retirement
and
medical
plans

Termination
benefits

Other
long term
benefits

TOTAL

Retirement
and
medical
plans

Termination
benefits

Other
long
term
benefits

TOTAL

8,455

538

238

9,231

10,533

155

274

10,962

Current service cost
Interest cost

12,088

183

169

12,440

12,927

157

98

13,182

(12,507)

-

-

(12,507)

(12,781)

-

-

(12,781)

145

(561)

(74)

(490)

556

514

(145)

925

42

-

-

42

1,287

-

-

1,287

(Gains) / losses on curtailments &
settlements

(486)

-

-

(486)

(1,008)

-

-

(1,008)

Additional liability due to IFRIC 14

659

-

-

659

-

-

-

-

Change in amount not recognised as
an asset

(738)

-

-

(738)

(313)

-

-

(313)

Total as at 31 December

7,658

160

333

8,151

11,201

826

227

12,254

Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial (gains) / losses recognised
in the year
Past service cost

The employee benefit expense is included in the following line items of the income statement:

(€ ‘000s)

2008

2007

Cost of sales

3,938

4,925

Commercial expenses

1,579

2,085

Administrative expenses

2,508

4,613

328

368

R&D expenses
Other operating income (expenses)

(202)

264

Total as at 31 December

8,151

12,255
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The principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages) can be summarised as follows:

2008

2007

Discount rate as at 31 December

6.09%

5.63%

Expected return on assets at 31 December

6.52%

6.91%

Rate of salary increases

3.93%

4.17%

Medical cost trend rate

5.39%

5.68%

Pension increase rate

2.41%

2.64%

The discount rate and the salary increase
rate have been weighted by the defined
benefit obligation.
The expected return on assets has been
weighted by the fair value of plan assets.

The medical trend rate has been
weighted by the defined benefit
obligation of those plans paying
pensions rather than by lump sums on
retirement.

Government bonds

2008

2007

15.79%

14.91%

Corporate bonds

8.92%

9.53%

Equity instruments

53.53%

55.98%

Cash

1.04%

4.44%

Insurance contracts

10.29%

7.43%

Other

10.43%

7.71%

100.00%

100.00%

The plan assets do not include
investments in the Group’s own shares
or in property occupied by the Group.

(c) Share-based payments
On 23 June 2004, Aliaxis approved a
share option programme entitling key
management personnel and senior
employees to purchase shares of the
Company and authorising the issuance
of up to 3,250,000 options to be granted
annually over a period of 5 years. Five
Stock Option Plans were accordingly
granted on 5 July 2004 (SOP 2004),
4 July 2005 (SOP 2005), 3 July 2006
(SOP 2006), 4 July 2007 (SOP 2007)
and 8 July 2008 (SOP 2008)
respectively.

t h e

At 31 December, the plan assets are
broken down into the following
categories according to the asset
portfolios weighted by the amount of
assets:

alia xis

g rou p

year

i n

One share option gives the beneficiary
the right to buy one ordinary share of
the Company. The vesting period is four
year after the grant date, and the options
can be exercised subsequently during a
period of three years with one exercise
period per year. Options are to be settled
by the physical delivery of shares using
the treasury shares held by Aliaxis (see
Note 20).
Each beneficiary is also granted a put
option, as long as the Group remains
unlisted, whereby Aliaxis shares acquired
under these plans can be sold back to
the Group at a price to be determined
at each put exercise period. The put
exercise periods run in parallel with the
exercise periods of each plan.
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At each grant/exercise date, Aliaxis
determines the fair value of the shares
by applying market multiples derived
from a representative sample of listed
companies to its last annual financial
performance.
In June 2008, the Share Option Plan
2004 reached its four year vesting period
and the beneficiaries exercised 618,030
share options and subsequently 615,030
put options. During 2008, an exercise
by anticipation of 4,500 and 8,000
share options and put options related to
the Share Option Plan 2006 and 2007,
respectively, took place.

Consolidated financial statements

Details of these stock option plans are as follows:

Number of share option
Date
granted

Exercise
price (in €)

Granted

Exercised

Forfeited

Outstanding

Exercise periods
1 June - 20 June

SOP 2004

05.07.2004

9.19

647,500

618,030

16,470

13,000

2008 - 2011

SOP 2005

04.07.2005

12.08

617,000

-

30,410

586,590

2009 - 2012

SOP 2006

03.07.2006

18.35

594,000

4,500

32,898

556,602

2010 - 2013

SOP 2007

04.07.2007

26.82

610,000

8,000

30,590

571,410

2011 - 2014

SOP 2008

08.07.2008

16.25

2012 - 2015

557,250

-

11,143

546,107

3,025,750

630,530

121,511

2,273,709

The number and weighted average exercise price of share options is as follows:

2008

Outstanding as at 1 January

2007

Number of
options

Weighted average
exercise price
per option (in €)

Number of
options

Weighted average
exercise price
per option (in €)

2,403,143

16.43

1,840,215

13.07

Movements during the year:
557,250

16.25

610,000

26.82

Options exercised

Options granted

(630,530)

9.37

-

-

Options forfeited

(56,154)

18.89

(47,072)

19.73

2,273,709

18.28

2,403,143

16.43

13,000

9.19

-

-

Outstanding as at 31 December
Exercisable as at 31 December

The fair value of the services received in return for share options granted is based on the fair value of share options granted, measured
using the Black & Scholes valuation model, with the following assumptions:

Fair value and assumptions

SOP 2008

SOP 2007

SOP 2006

SOP 2005

SOP 2004

Fair value at grant date (€ per option)

4.02

7.13

4.39

2.39

1.93

Share price (€)

16.25

26.82

18.35

12.08

9.19

Exercise price (€)

16.25

26.82

18.35

12.08

9.19

Expected volatility (%)

20

20

21

21

21

Expected option average life (years)

5.5

5.5

5.5

5.5

5.5

Expected dividends (€)

0.16

0.14

0.12

0.11

0.10

Risk-free interest rate (%)

4.89

4.84

4.08

2.76

3.75

t h e

al iaxis

gr ou p

y ear

i n

r evi ew ‘0 8

67

Consolidated financial statements

The expected volatility percentage is
based on the historical volatility which is
observed for comparable companies in
Belgium. Expected dividends take into
account a 10% growth of the dividends
paid during the year. The risk-free interest

rate is based on the SWAP Euro interest
rate corresponding to the expected
options’ average life. The vesting
expectations are based on historical data
of key management personnel turnover.

Personnel expenses for share-based
payments recorded in the income
statement (see Note 9) are as follows:

2008

(€ ‘000s)

2007

SOP 2004

156

312

SOP 2005

369

369

SOP 2006

653

653

SOP 2007

1,088

544

SOP 2008
Share-based payments related expense
Additionally, one share option
arrangement was granted in the year
2000. This plan results in the issuance
of new shares pursuant to the exercise

of these options, together with the
acquisition by Aliaxis of these shares
following put options granted together
with the share options. At 31 December

280

-

2,546

1,878

2008, 1,040 share options representing
15,600 shares are outstanding. The
recognition and measurement principles in
IFRS 2 have not been applied to this plan.

24. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
The change in deferred tax assets and liabilities is as follows:

As at 1 January

Net

2008

2007

2008

2007

2008

2007

39,406

45,373

(74,093)

(78,204)

(34,687)

(32,831)

(578)

(8,190)

2,723

8,710

2,145

520

465

3,200

(1,293)

(5,237)

(828)

(2,037)

Recognised in the income statement
Scope changes
Other

t h e

Liabilities

Assets

(€ ‘000s)

-

375

-

-

-

375

Exchange difference

(2,055)

(1,351)

3,293

637

1,238

(713)

As at 31 December

37,238

39,406

(69,370)

(74,093)

(32,132)

(34,687)

alia xis
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

Liabilities

Assets

(€ ‘000s)
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

Net

2008

2007

2008

2007

2008

2007

3,113

3,196

(451)

(421)

2,662

2,775

821

1,055

(52,161)

(58,213)

(51,341)

(57,158)

Inventories

6,662

6,488

(3,572)

(3,060)

3,090

3,428

Post employment benefits

9,412

12,174

(621)

(625)

8,791

11,549

Provisions

2,971

3,950

(497)

(523)

2,474

3,426

Loans and borrowings

1,140

68

(67)

(218)

1,073

(150)

-

-

(4,265)

(4,432)

(4,265)

(4,432)

9,366

8,924

(7,735)

(6,601)

1,631

2,323

Undistributed earnings
Other assets and liabilities
Loss carry forwards
Tax assets / (liabilities)
Set-off of assets and liabilities
Net tax assets / (liabilities)

Tax losses carried forward on which no
deferred tax asset is recognised amount
to € 128 million (2007: € 114 million). € 112
million of these tax losses do not have an

3,754

3,551

-

-

3,754

3,551

37,238

39,406

(69,370)

(74,093)

(32,132)

(34,687)

(25,541)

(26,531)

25,541

26,531

-

-

11,697

12,875

(43,829)

(47,562)

(32,132)

(34,687)

expiration date. € 16 million will expire
at the latest by the end of 2017.
Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised on these tax losses available

for carry forward because it is not probable
that future taxable profits will be available
against which these tax losses can be
utilised.

25. Provisions
(€ ‘000s)
As at 1 January 2008

Product liability

Restructuring

Other

TOTAL

10,482

3,656

8,630

22,768

Movements during the year:
Change in consolidation scope
Provisions created

-

111

43

154

30,426

4,750

6,670

41,846

(29,401)

(5,473)

(2,150)

(37,024)

Provisions reversed

(554)

(684)

(1,198)

(2,436)

Other movements

(36)

-

36

-

(1,184)

(257)

(480)

(1,921)

As at 31 December 2008

9,733

2,103

11,551

23,387

Non current balance at the end of the period

2,192

164

6,955

9,311

Current balance at the end of the period

7,541

1,939

4,596

14,076

Provisions used

Exchange difference

The settlement of the Nevada class action in North America (see Note 30) is reported above under product liability.
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26. Amounts payable
(a) Non current other amounts payable
(€ ‘000s)
As at 31 December
Right of put by minorities
Other
Other amounts payable

The Group has a 51% interest in Aliaxis
Latinoamerica Cooperatief UA (‘Aliaxis
Latinoamerica’), the remaining 49%
minority interest being held by a third
party. The shareholders agreement
comprises a right of put (whereby the
minority member can request the
Group to acquire the whole or part of
said 49% in Aliaxis Latinoamerica) and
a right of call (whereby the Group can
request the minority member to sell
the whole or part of said 49% in Aliaxis
Latinoamerica).
The right of put can be exercised for the
first time in January 2011 (and thereafter
in January of each subsequent year) and
the right of call can be exercised for the
first time in January 2013 (and thereafter
in January of each subsequent year).

The interest to be acquired pursuant to the
rights of put exercisable in 2011 and 2012
will be valued as a multiple of the EBITDA
minus the net financial debt of the Aliaxis
Latinoamerica businesses in the year
preceding the date the put is exercised. In
the following years the valuation will be
based on a fair market value.
At 31 December 2008, the calculated
minority interest (49%) in Aliaxis
Latinoamerica represented € 110 million
(2007: € 105.3 million). The increase is
due to the combined effect of positive
movements in translation and hedging
reserves of € 2.4 and € 0.5 million
respectively and a capital increase of
€ 1.8 million.

2008

2007

60,006

105,257

4,960

4,005

64,966

109,262

At the reporting date, Group
management has determined the
fair value that the right of put by the
minority member will have at the
time the put option may be exercised
in accordance with the principles
laid down in Note 4(c). Based on such
determination, which takes into account
revised budget information for 2009
reflecting the impact of the economic
recession with a gradual recovery at
a later stage, Group management
believes that the fair value of the
minority interest liability differs from
the calculated minority interest and
adjusted this liability by € 50 million to
€ 60 million by decreasing the carrying
amount of goodwill (see also Note 13).

(b) Current amounts payable
(€ ‘000s)
As at 31 December

2008

2007

206,457

226,150

80,153

83,193

Income taxes payable

7,034

14,940

Taxes (other than income) payable

6,405

12,797

Derivative financial instruments with negative fair values

11,604

1,764

Interest payable

6,666

2,601

Trade payables
Payroll and social security payable

Other payables
Amounts payable

t h e
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10,690

8,274

329,009

349,719
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27. Financial instruments
(a) Foreign currency risk
Exposure
The Group’s most significant exposure, based on notional amounts, was as follows:
(‘000s of currency)
As at 31 December

2008
EUR

USD

Trading assets

9,655

Financial assets

2,489

2007
CAD

GBP

EUR

USD

CAD

GBP

72,162

-

560

2,364

60,353

-

148

41,515

10,645

101

220

72,576

-

22,450

Trading liabilities

(19,232) (134,326)

(1)

(604)

(9,369)

(99,394)

(340)

(409)

Financial liabilities

(23,560)

(93,532)

(298)

(10,380)

-

(63,287)

(41,301)

-

Balance sheet exposure

(30,648)

(114,181)

10,346

(10,323)

(6,785)

(29,752)

(41,641)

22,188

Forward FX contracts

-

23,078

-

-

833

5,949

-

93

Cross currency interest rate swaps
(CCRS )

-

3,237

-

-

-

4,735

-

-

FX options

-

-

-

-

-

14,000

-

-

(30,648)

(87,866)

10,346

(10,323)

(5,952)

(5,067)

(41,641)

22,281

Net exposure

Sensitivity analysis

A 10% strengthening of the Euro at 31
December against the currencies listed
above would have increased (decreased)

equity and profit or loss by the amounts
shown below. This analysis assumes that
all other variables, in particular interest
rates, remain constant. A 10% weakening

of the Euro against those same
currencies would have had the equal but
opposite effect.

(€ ‘000s)
As at 31 December

2008
USD

2007

CAD

GBP

USD

CAD

GBP

Equity

2,608

-

1,004

3,088

6,692

(971)

Profit or loss

5,740

(553)

985

313

2,620

(2,762)

Transaction exposure
The change in the fair value of forward
exchange contracts contracted to manage
currency risk where there is no natural
hedge and outstanding at 31 December
2008, represents an income of € 9,516,

recorded in finance income in the income
statement (2007: income of € 281).
Net investment exposure
At 31 December 2008, € 2,471 of exchange
gain on borrowings designated as a

t h e

hedge of net investments in foreign
operations was accounted for in equity
under translation reserve (2007: losses
of € 856).
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(b) Credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the
reporting date was:
Carrying amount
(€ ‘000s)

2008

2007

Other non current assets

15,871

11,488

335,725

346,642

2,639

3,798

Current amounts receivable
Interest rate instruments used for hedging
Forward exchange contracts used for hedging

6,974

2,449

113,427

114,365

474,636

478,742

Cash and cash equivalents
As at 31 December

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was:

Carrying amount
2008

2007

156,263

158,708

18,721

29,051

United States

23,749

23,930

Canada

12,885

15,462

(€ ‘000s)
Euro-zone countries
United Kingdom

New Zealand and Australia

17,089

16,982

Latin America

67,606

59,127

Other regions

22,574

25,536

318,887

328,796

As at 31 December

The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting data was:
Gross
2008

(€ ‘000s)

Gross
2007

Impairment
2007

Not past due

209,129

791

220,280

1,039

Past due 0 - 30 days

64,056

347

68,395

921

Past due 31 - 90 days

30,927

1,755

28,693

1,806

Past due 91 - 365 days

21,146

5,555

19,276

5,887

Past due more than one year

9,243

7,166

6,650

4,845

334,501

15,614

343,294

14,498

As at 31 December
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The movement of impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

(€ ‘000s)
As at 1 January

2008

2007

14,498

12,977

57

4,016

Movements during the year:
Changes in the consolidation scope
Recognised
Used
Reversed
Exchange difference
As at 31 December

(c) Commodity risk
At 31 December 2008, the Group had
entered into energy hedging contracts
in order to manage exposure to energy
prices in Canada and a negative fair
value reduction of € 178 (2007: € 133 ) was

accounted for as a credit in the income
statement.

(d) Interest rate risk
Description and fair value of derivatives
The table below provides an overview of

As at 31 December
Type of derivative financial
instrument

(1,314)

(2,254)

(713)

(689)

15,614

14,498

Nominal amount
2007

1 year
or less

1 to 5
years

More than
5 years

1 year
or less

Interest rate swaps

15,748

95,796

-

Options ( Caps, floors or collars)

69,341

113,311

-

Other interest derivatives

113,726

-

-

The table below presents the positive
and negative fair values of derivative
financial instruments as reported in the

3,244
(2,796)

the nominal amounts (by maturity) of the
derivative financial instruments used to
hedge the interest rate risk associated to
the interest bearing loans and borrowings
(as presented in Note 22).

Nominal amount
2008

(€ ‘000s)

6,746
(3,660)

balance sheet under current amounts
receivable and current amounts payable
respectively. Also included are the

t h e

1 to 5
years

more than
5 years

-

114,151

-

-

238,288

-

-

72,478

-

notional amounts of the derivative
financial instruments per maturity as
presented in the balance sheet.
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Fair value

(€ ‘000s)

Notional amount

Positive

Negative

less than 6
months

6 to 12
months

1 to 5 years

More than
5 years

Total

Interest rate swaps

33

6,944

-

-

95,796

-

95,796

Interest rate options

36

628

-

-

47,064

-

47,064

CCRS

178

56

7

855

1,706

-

2,568

Derivatives held as cash flow
hedges

247

7,628

7

855

144,566

-

145,428

Interest rate swaps

-

305

15,748

-

-

-

15,748

Derivatives held as not
effective cash flow hedge

-

305

15,748

-

-

-

15,748

Interest rate swaps

1

1

-

-

-

-

-

Interest rate options
CCRS
Other interest rate derivatives

122

1,666

9,341

60,000

66,247

-

135,588

2,141

-

-

23,560

-

-

23,560

123

1,377

90,193

23,532

-

-

113,725

FX derivatives

6,979

628

17,745

1,906

90,015

-

109,666

Derivatives not qualifying
as hedges

9,366

3,672

117,279

108,998

156,262

-

382,540

Total

9,613

11,604

133,034

109,853

300,828

-

543,715

Some assets classified as other noncurrent assets and some finance lease
debts may have a fair value which differs
from their carrying amount. Any such
differences are insignificant.
Accounting for derivatives
The Group has applied cash flow hedge
accounting for derivative financial

instruments with a total notional
amount of € 145,428 (2007: € 152,139).
Consequently, the fair value adjustment
for the effective portion of these
derivatives is recognised directly in
equity under hedging reserve.

The evolution in the hedging reserve is
as follows:

The fair value adjustment for the
ineffective portion of these derivatives is

(€ ‘000s)
As at 1 January

2008

2007

727

614

Effective portion of changes in fair value of new instruments added

(2,456)

6

Effective portion of changes in fair value of existing instruments

(4,157)

474

Existing instruments settled

-

(132)

Changes in the consolidation scope

-

(266)

- New consolidation
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to income statement
Exchange difference
As at 31 December

t h e

accounted for in the income statement.
The amount of such adjustment was
insignificant in both 2008 and 2007.
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-

(266)

(60)

52

(203)

(20)

(6,149)

727
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Those derivative financial instruments
which do not meet the criteria to be
considered as cash flow hedges are
accounted for as derivatives held-fortrading and the change in fair value of
these instruments are accounted for in
the income statement.

In 2008, the net fair value adjustment
was a gain of € 4,321 (2007: € 535).
Sensitivity to interest rate variations
At the reporting date, more than 90% of
the financial assets and liabilities in the
Group were at floating rate.
A change of 100 basis points in interest

2008

(€ ‘000s)
As at 31 December

Variable rate instruments
Interest rate derivatives
Cash flow sensitivity (net)

rates at the reporting date would have
increased (decreased) equity and profit
or loss by the amounts shown below.
This analysis assumes that all other
variables, in particular foreign currency
rates, remain constant.
The analysis was performed on the same
basis as in 2007.

2007

Profit or loss

Equity

100 bp
increase

100 bp
decrease

100 bp
increase

(5,194)

5,194

1,331

(747)

(3,863)

4,446

2,553

Profit or loss

Equity

100 bp
decrease

100 bp
increase

100 bp
decrease

100 bp
increase

100 bp
decrease

-

-

(4,830)

4,830

-

-

2,553

(2,257)

3,477

(3,155)

2,595

(3,331)

(2,257)

(1,353)

1,675

2,595

(3,331)

(e) liquidity risk
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments:

At 31 December 2008
(€ ‘000s)

Carrynig
amount

Contractual
cash flows

1 year or
less

1 to 5
years

More than
5 years

(488,371)

(532,917)

(73,213)

(458,407)

(1,297)

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Unsecured bank facilities
Secured bank loans

(16,012)

(18,712)

(5,311)

(9,953)

(3,448)

Other loans and borrowings

(44,015)

(51,242)

(23,733)

(23,853)

(3,656)

Finance lease
Trade and other payables
Bank overdraft

(13,768)

(17,158)

(3,540)

(8,005)

(5,613)

(310,370)

(310,370)

(310,370)

-

-

(38,163)

(38,163)

(38,163)

-

-

(10,606)

(11,177)

(5,045)

(6,132)

-

Derivative financial liabilities
Swaps or options used for hedging
CCRS - outflows
CCRS - inflows

-

(26,671)

(24,834)

(1,837)

-

2,264

27,569

25,586

1,983

-

(919,041)

(978,841)

(458,623)

(506,204)

(14,014)
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At 31 December 2007
Carrynig
amount

Contractual
cash flows

1 year or
less

1 to 5
years

More than
5 years

(470,802)

(573,998)

(47,264)

(526,734)

-

Secured bank loans

(36,843)

(41,208)

(23,705)

(7,551)

(9,952)

Other loans and borrowings

(42,948)

(50,162)

(6,322)

(43,841)

-

(11,551)

(13,529)

(2,782)

(6,126)

(4,621)

(333,014)

(333,014)

(332,775)

(239)

-

(25,831)

(25,831)

(25,831)

-

-

2,965

2,254

885

1,369

-

(€ ‘000s)
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Unsecured bank facilities

Finance lease
Trade and other payables
Bank overdraft
Derivative financial liabilities
Swaps or options used for hedging
CCRS - outflows
CCRS - inflows

-

(3,891)

(1,048)

(2,843)

-

(295)

3,376

892

2,484

-

(918,318)

(,1,036,003)

(437,949)

(583,482)

(14,573)

In particular, the following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with derivatives that are cash flow hedges,
are expected to occur and to impact the income statement:

At 31 December 2008
(€ ‘000s)
Interest rate swaps
Caps, collars
CCRS - outflows
CCRS - inflows

Carrynig
amount

Expected
cash flows

1 year or
less

1-5
years

More than
5 years

(6,911)

(7,266)

(2,790)

(4,476)

-

(592)

(657)

(342)

(315)

-

-

(2,734)

(897)

(1,837)

-

122

2,890

907

1,983

-

(7,381)

(7,767)

(3,124)

(4,645)

-

Carrynig
amount

Expected
cash flows

1 year or
less

1-5
years

More than
5 years

Interest rate swaps

888

948

209

739

-

Caps, collars

239

22

18

4

-

At 31 December 2007
(€ ‘000s)

CCRS - outflows
CCRS - inflows

t h e
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-

(3,891)

(1,048)

(2,843)

-

(295)

3,376

892

2,484

-

833

454
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28. Operating leases
Cost as a lessee

(€ ‘000s)
Incurred during the year

21,941

Committed to:
Not later than one year

18,416

Later than one year and not later than 5 years

30,365

Later than 5 years

13,359

Total committed

62,140

Operating leases mainly relate to buildings, warehouses and vehicles.

29. Guarantees, collateral and contractual commitments
(€ ‘000s)
As at 31 December

2008

2007

Personal guarantees given for third party commitments

-

24,374

Real guarantees given

20,929

11,742

Contractual commitments to acquire assets

23,872

51,000

30. Contingencies
As is common with many manufacturing
and distribution businesses, the Aliaxis
companies may, in the ordinary course
of their activities, be involved from time
to time in legal and administrative
proceedings. In cases where the
outcome of such proceedings remains
unknown, a contingent liability may
exist.
IPEX Inc. and/or IPEX USA LLC (“IPEX”)
have been named, together with other
defendants, in a lawsuit in the State
of Nevada certified as a class action in
October 2006, alleging that a plumbing
product sold by IPEX was defective. IPEX

has negotiated a settlement which has
been approved by the judge in Nevada
beginning of 2009 and which resulted
in a one off cost of USD 37,5 million for
IPEX. Some developers and plumbers
have however filed a notice of appeal in
the Nevada Supreme Court.
Other legal actions have been filed
against certain North American
companies in various states of the
USA referring to defective plumbing
products. At this time, none of these
actions have been certified as class
actions and the amounts of damages
claimed are not specified. The companies
will defend vigorously these actions.
Based upon the information available at

this stage, it is not possible to estimate
the potential liabilities which could
result from these proceedings.

31. Related parties
Key management compensation
The total remuneration costs of the
Board of Directors and Executive
Committee during 2008 amounted
to € 8,211 (2007: € 8,429). For members
of the Board of Directors this
predominantly related to directors fees
while for members of the Executive
Committee this comprised fixed base
salaries, variable remuneration, pension
service costs as well as share option
grants.

(€ ‘000s)

2008

2007

Salaries (fixed and variable)

7,001

7,364

Retirement benefits

481

492

Share-based payments

729

573

8,211

8,429

Total
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32. Aliaxis companies
The most important Aliaxis companies are listed below. A complete list of the Company’s investments is available upon request.

List of fully consolidated companies
Company

% Financial interest

HOLDING AND SUPPORT COMPANIES

Country

Aliaxis S.A.

100.00

Brussels

Belgium

Aliaxis Latinoamerica Cooperatief U.A. *

100.00

Panningen

The Netherlands

Aliaxis Finance S.A.

100.00

Aliaxis Holding Italia Spa

100.00

Aliaxis Holdings UK Ltd

100.00

Aliaxis Ibérica S.L.

100.00

Aliaxis North America Inc

100.00

Aliaxis Participations S.A

100.00

Aliaxis R&D S.A.S.

100.00

Aliaxis Services S.A.

100.00

DE Investments Group SARL *

100.00

GDC Holding Ltd

100.00

Glynwed Dublin Corporation

100.00

Glynwed Holding B.V.

100.00

Glynwed Inc

100.00

Glynwed Overseas Holdings Ltd

100.00

Glynwed Pacific Holdings Pty Ltd

100.00

Glynwed USA Inc

100.00

GPS Holding Germany GmbH

100.00

IPLA B.V. *

100.00

Marley European Holdings GmbH

100.00

Marley Holdings New Zealand Ltd

100.00

Nicoll Do Brasil Participações Ltda *

100.00

Panningen Finance BV *

100.00

Société Financière des Etangs S.A.

100.00

Société Financière du Héron S.A.

100.00

Tervueren Finance SA

100.00

The Marley Company (NZ) Ltd

100.00

Tubo Fort LLC *

100.00

OPERATING COMPANIES

Brussels

Zola Predosa
Sevenoaks
Madrid

Toronto
Paris

Vernouillet

Vernouillet

Luxembourg
Sevenoaks
Dublin

Nieuwegein
Wilmington
Sevenoaks
Adelaide

Wilmington
Mannheim
Panningen
Wunstorf
Auckland

São Paulo

Panningen
Brussels

Brussels

Brussels

Auckland

Delaware

Belgium
Italy
UK

Spain

Canada
France

France

France

Luxembourg
UK

Ireland

The Netherlands
USA
UK

Australia
USA

Germany

The Netherlands
Germany

New Zealand
Brasil

The Netherlands
Belgium

Belgium

Belgium

New Zealand
USA

Abuplast Kunststoffbetriebe GmbH

100.00

Rodental

Germany

Akatherm International B.V.

100.00

Panningen

The Netherlands

Akatherm FIP GmbH

100.00

Ariete Hispana SL

100.00

Ariete Srl

100.00

Arnomij B.V.

100.00

Astore Valves & Fittings Srl

100.00

Canplas Industries Ltd

100.00

Canplas USA LLC

100.00

Chemvin Plastics Ltd

100.00

Corporacion de Inversiones Dureco SA *

100.00

Dalpex MLP SpA
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Mannheim
Barcelona
Livorno

Noordwijkerhout
Genoa
Barrie

Denver

Auckland

Guatemala
Livorno

Germany
Spain
Italy

The Netherlands
Italy

Canada
USA

New Zealand
Guatemala
Italy
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Company

% Financial interest

OPERATING COMPANIES

City

Country

Dalpex SpA

100.00

Livorno

Italy

Dureco El Salvador SA de CV *

100.00

San Salvador

El Salvador

Dureco de Honduras SA *
Durman Esquivel SA *

Durman Esquivel SA *

Durman Esquivel Guatemala SA *

Durman Esquivel Industrial de Nicaragua SA *
Dux Industries Ltd

Dynex Extrusions Ltd
Europlast Spa
FIP Srl

Friatec AG

Friatec DPL S.A.S.

Friatec Rheinhutte Pumps & Valves LLC
Friatec SARL
Girpi S.A.S.

Glynwed AB

Glynwed AG

Glynwed A/S
Glynwed B.V.

Glynwed GmbH
Glynwed Ltda

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

Tegucigalpa

Honduras

San José

Costa Rica

Panama

Panama

Guatemala

Guatemala

Managua

Nicaragua

Hutt City

New Zealand

Auckland

New Zealand

Santa Lucia Di Piave

Italy

Casella

Italy

Mannheim

Germany

Nemours

France

Hampton

USA

Nemours

France

Harfleur

France

Solna

Sweden

Neuthausen

Switzerland

Roskilde

Denmark

Willemstad

The Netherlands

Vienna

Austria

Teresopolis

Brazil

Glynwed N.V.

100.00

Kontich

Belgium

Glynwed S.A.S.

100.00

Mèze

France

Glynwed Pipe Systems Ltd
Glynwed Srl

Glynwed s.r.o.

GPS Asia Pte Ltd
GPS Ibérica S.L.

GPS Malaysia Sdn Bhd

Harrington Industrial Plastics LLC
Hunter Plastics Ltd
Innoge PEI
Ipex Inc

Ipex USA LLC

Ipex de Mexico SA de CV *
Jimten S.A.

Marley Deutschland GmbH
Marley Magyarorszag RT
Marley New Zealand Ltd

Marley Pipe Systems (Pty) Ltd
Marley Plastics Ltd

Marley Polska Sp.zo.o

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00
100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

Cannock

UK

Milan

Italy

Prague

Czech Rep.

Singapore

Singapore

Sta Perpetua de Mogoda

Spain

Jala

Malaysia

Chino

USA

London

UK

Monaco

Monaco

Don Mills

Canada

Wilmington

USA

Mexico DF

Mexico

Alicante

Spain

Wunstorf

Germany

Szekszard

Hungary

Manurewa

New Zealand

Sandton

South Africa

Lenham

UK

Warsaw
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Company

% Financial interest

OPERATING COMPANIES
Material de Aireación S.A.

City

Country

98.67

Okondo

Spain

100.00

Herstal

Belgium

Multi Fittings Corporation

100.00

Nicoll Eterplast S.A. *

100.00

Nicoll Belgique S.A.
Nicoll Italia Srl

100.00

Nicoll Industria Plastica Ltda *

100.00

Nicoll Peru S.A. *

100.00

Nicoll Uruguay S.A. *

100.00

Paling Industries Sdn Bhd

100.00

Panel Ex SA *

100.00

Perforacion y Conduccion de Aguas SA *

100.00

Philmac Pty Ltd

100.00

Durman Esquivel de Mexico SA de CV *

100.00

Poliplast Sp.zo.o

100.00

Raccords et Plastiques Nicoll S.A.S.

100.00

Redi HT Srl

100.00

Redi Spa

100.00

Rhine Ruhr Pumps & Valves (Pty) Ltd

74.90

Riuvert S.A.

100.00

Sanitaire Accessoires Services S.A.S.

100.00

RX Plastics Limited

100.00

Sanitärtechnik GmbH

100.00

SCI Frimo

100.00

SCI LAML

100.00

SED Flow Control GmbH

100.00

Sociedad Immobiliaria Interandina SA *

100.00

Straub Werke AG

100.00

The Universal Hardware and Plastic Fact. Ltd

51.00

Durman Esquivel Puerto Rico Corp. *

100.00

Tuvinil SA *

100.00

Tubotec SA *

100.00

Vigotec N.V.

50.00

WEFA Plastic Kunststoffverarbeitungs GmbH

100.00

Zhongshan Universal Enterprises Ltd

51.00

Wilmington
Buenos Aires

Santa Lucia di Piave

São José dos Pinhais
Lima

Montevideo

Selangor Darul Ehsan
San José

San José

North Plympton
Mexico DF
Olesnica
Cholet

Barbarano

Zola Predosa

Sandton South
Tibi Alicante
Ashburton

St Laurent de Mure
Eisenberg
Nemours

Nemours

Bad Rappenau
Lima

Wangs

Kowloon

Sabana Grande
Bogota

Cartagena
Puurs

Attendorn

Zhongshan

USA

Argentina
Italy

Brasil
Peru

Uruguay

Malaysia

Costa Rica

Costa Rica
Australia
Mexico
Poland
France
Italy

Italy

Africa
Spain

New Zealand
France

Germany
France

France

Germany
Peru

Switzerland
China

Puerto Rico
Colombia

Colombia
Belgium

Germany

City China

List of equity accounted investees
Company

% Financial interest

City

Country

Duratec - Vinilit S.A.

40.00

Santiago

Chile

Sistemas Avanzados de Drenaje ADS Cia Ltda

50.00

Guatemala

Guatemala

Advance Drainage Systems Costa Rica Ltda

50.00

ADS Centroamerica Ltda de CV

50.00

San José

San Salvador

Costa Rica

El Salvador

Aliaxis Latinoamerica (and its subsidiaries) is legally owned for 51% by the Group and 49% by a minority interest holder who is entitled
to a right of put against the Group (see Note 26). Aliaxis Latinoamerica (and its subsidiaries) is, due to the existence of said right of put, for
consolidation purposes considered to be 100% economically owned by the Group which is reflected in the table above, and is fully consolidated.

(*)
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33. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In April 2009, the Group has reached
an agreement in principle to acquire
the 49% membership interest in Aliaxis
Latinoamerica Cooperatief UA from
the minority member, who will use the
consideration to acquire 2,338,158 Aliaxis
treasury shares.

34. Services provided by
the statutory auditor
Audit and audit-related fees for 2008 in
relation to services provided by KPMG
Réviseurs d’Entreprises amounted to
€ 0.4 million (2007: € 0.4 million) which
was composed of audit services for the
annual financial statements for
€ 0.2 million (2007: € 0.2 million) and
audit related and other services of
€ 0.2 million (2007: € 0.2 million).
Audit and other fees for 2008 in relation
to services provided by other offices in
the KPMG network amounted to
€ 3.3 million (2007: € 3.4 million) which
was composed of audit services for
€ 2.1 million (2007: € 2.1 million), auditrelated services for € 0.1 million (2007:
€ 0.1 million), tax services for € 0.9 million
(2007: € 1.1 million) and other services for
€ 0.2 million (2007: € 0.1 million).
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Auditor’s Report
KPMG Bedrijsrevisoren - Réviseurs
d’entreprises
Bourgetlaan - Avenue du Bourget 40
1130 Brussels - Bruxelles
Belgium

Tel. +32 (0)2 708 43 00
Fax +32(0)2 708 43 99
www.kpmg.be

Statutory auditor’s report to the General Meeting of Shareholders of Aliaxis SA on the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2008
In accordance with legal and statutory requirements, we report to you on the performance of our audit mandate. This report includes
our opinion on the consolidated financial statements together with the required additional comment.
Unqualified audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Aliaxis SA (“the company”) and its subsidiaries ( jointly “the group”),
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union, and with the legal and
regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium. These consolidated accounts comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of
31 December 2008 and the consolidated income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flows statement for the year
then ended, as well as the summary of significant accounting policies and the other explanatory notes. The total of the consolidated
balance sheet amounts to € 2,157,590,000 and the consolidated income statement shows a profit of the year of € 126,102,000.
The board of directors of the company is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. This responsibility
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing, legal requirements and auditing standards applicable in Belgium, as issued by
the “Institut des Réviseurs d’Entreprises/Instituut der Bedrijfsrevisoren”. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
In accordance with these standards, we have performed procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we
have considered internal control relevant to the company’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the group’s internal control. We have also evaluated the appropriateness of the accounting policies used, the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the company and the presentation of the consolidated financial statements, taken
as a whole. Finally, we have obtained from management and responsible officers of the company the explanations and information
necessary for our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the group’s net worth and financial position as of
31 December 2008 and of its results and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, as adopted by the European Union, and with the legal and regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium.

Additional comment
The preparation of the management report on the consolidated financial statements and its content are the responsibility of the
board of directors.
Our responsibility is to supplement our report with the following additional comment, which does not modify our audit opinion on
the financial statements:
• The management report on the consolidated financial statements includes the information required by law and is consistent with
the consolidated financial statements.
We are, however, unable to comment on the description of the principal risks and uncertainties which the group is facing, and
on its financial situation, its foreseeable evolution or the significant influence of certain facts on its future development. We can
nevertheless confirm that the matters disclosed do not present any obvious inconsistencies with the information that we became
aware of during the performance of our mandate.

Brussels, 23 April 2009
KPMG Réviseurs d’Entreprises
Statutory auditor
represented by

Benoit Van Roost
Réviseur d’Entreprises
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Non-Consolidated Accounts
and Profit Distribution
The annual statutory accounts of Aliaxis
S.A. are summarised below.

These documents are also available upon
request at:

In accordance with the Belgian Company
Code, the annual accounts of Aliaxis
S.A., including the Directors’ Report and
the Auditors’ Report, will be registered
at the Belgian National Bank within the
required legal timeframe.

Aliaxis S.A.
Group Finance Department
Avenue de Tervueren, 270
1150 Brussels, Belgium

The Auditor, KPMG Réviseurs
d’Entreprises, represented by Benoit
Van Roost, has expressed an unqualified
opinion on the annual statutory
accounts of Aliaxis S.A.

SUMMARISED BALANCE SHEET AFTER PROFIT DISTRIBUTION
As at 31 December

2008

2007

1,135,709

996,842

434

420

1,135,275

996,422

1,332

2,484

1,137,041

999,326

1,095,164

969,235

62,655

62,648

13,218

13,138

(€ ‘000s)
Assets
Non current assets
Intangible and tangible assets
Financial assets
Current assets
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Capital
Share premium account
Revaluation reserve

92

92

948,922

848,922

Profit carried forward

70,277

44,435

Liabilities

41,877

30,091

1,137,041

999,326

Reserves

Total equity and liabilities
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n o n - c o n s o l i dat e d acc o u nts a n d p r o f i t d i st r i b u t i o n

summarised profit and loss account

Year ended 31 December

2008

2007

(€ ‘000s)
Income from operations

5,225

4,155

Operating charges

(12,030)

(10,030)

OPERATING LOSS

(6,805)

(5,875)

Financial result

153,603

112,974

INCOME TAXES

-

(13)

146,798

107,086

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD

PROFIT DISTRIBUTION
The Board of Directors will propose
at the General Shareholders’ Meeting on
27 May 2009 a net dividend of € 0.1725
per share. The proposed gross dividend
is € 0.23 per share, representing 16%
of the consolidated basic earnings per
share of € 1.46.

The dividend will be paid on 1 July 2009
against the return of coupon No. 6 at the
following premises:
• Banque Degroof
• Fortis Banque
• Dexia Banque
• Crédit Agricole Indosuez Luxembourg
as well as at our registered office.
The profit appropriation would be as
follows:

(€ ‘000s)
Profit brought forward

44,435

Profit for the period

146,798

Gross dividend to be distributed to the 91,119,465 issued shares

(20,956)

Other reserve

(100,000)

Profit carried forward

70,277
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Statutory Nominations
Board of directors
The mandates of Mrs. Andréa Hatschek,
Messrs. Kieran Murphy, Yves Noiret, JeanLouis Piérard, Olivier van der Rest, Henri
Thijssen, Philippe Voortman and A.S.B.
Invest SRL (represented by Mr. Philippe
Leemans) will expire at the next Annual
General Meeting on May 27, 2009. They
are candidate for reelection for a term
of office of three years ended at the
General Meeting of 2012.
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The mandates of Messrs. Alain Siaens
and Bernard Steyaert will also expire at
the next Annual General Meeting on
May 27, 2009. They are not candidates for
reelection.
It will be also proposed to the
shareholders to elect Messrs. Francis
Durman Esquivel, Bruno Emsens, Frank H.
Lakerveld and Yves Mertens as directors
of Aliaxis S.A. for a term of office of three
years ended at the General Meeting of
2012.
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Auditor
The mandate of KPMG Réviseurs
d’Entreprises as auditor of the nonconsolidated and consolidated accounts
of the company will expire at the next
Annual General Meeting of May 27, 2009.
It will be proposed to the shareholders to
reappoint KPMG Réviseurs d’Entreprises
for a term of three years as auditor of
the non-consolidated and consolidated
accounts of the company.

Glossary
of key terms and ratios
Revenue (Sales)

Amounts invoiced to customers for goods and services
provided by the Group, less credits for returns, rebates
and allowances and discounts for cash payments

EBITDA

EBIT before charging depreciation, amortisation and
impairment

Current EBITDA

Current EBIT plus depreciation, amortisation and impairment
(other than Goodwill impairment)

Current EBIT

Profit from operations before non-recurring items

EBIT

Capital Employed

The aggregate of (i) intangible assets, (ii) property,
plant & equipment, (iii) investment properties, (iv) inventories
and (v) amounts receivable, less the aggregate of (a) current
provisions, and (b) current amounts payable

Non-Cash Working Capital

The aggregate of (i) inventories and (ii) amounts receivable,
less the aggregate of (a) current provisions, and (b)
current amounts payable

Return on Capital Employed (%)

EBIT / Average of Capital Employed at 1 January and
31 December * 100

Return on Equity (Group Share) (%)

Operating income

Net Profit (Group Share) / Average of Equity attributable
to equity holders of Aliaxis at 1 January and 31 December * 100

Net Profit (Group Share)

Effective Income Tax Rate (%)

Capital Expenditure

Payout Ratio (%)

Profit of the year attributable to equity holders of the Group

Expenditure on the acquisition of property plant and
equipment, investment properties and intangible assets

Income Taxes / Profit before income taxes * 100

Gross dividend per share / Basic earnings per share * 100

Net Financial Debt

The aggregate of (i) non-current and current interest-bearing
loans and borrowings and (ii) bank overdrafts, less (iii) cash and
cash equivalents
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Registered Office
Aliaxis S.A.
Avenue de Tervueren,270
B-1150 Brussels, Belgium
No. Entreprise: 0860 005 067
Tel.: +32 2 775 50 50 - Fax: +32 2 775 50 51
www.aliaxis.com
aliaxis@aliaxis.com

